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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors” and each the “Director”) of Union Asia Enterprise
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this annual report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
the Company, | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Hong Kong economic activities struggled through the
adverse effect of COVID-19, with global economic
activities suffering from slowdown. Although Hong
Kong SAR Government has launched several relief
measures to provide assistance to members of the
public and enterprise, under the heavy influence of
COVID-19 as well as the subsequent economic
downturn, the Group’s overall performance has been
affected.

The volume of property transactions in the Hong Kong
primary residential market was affected by social
distancing measures which lasted for months, while
secondary market transactions and prices remained
resilient. The Group is of the view that the low interest
rate environment and solid end-user demand,
particularly for small-to-medium-sized units, continued
to support the property market in Hong Kong.

The Group will closely monitor potential impact of
COVID-19 on the Group’s businesses and will continue
to develop and strengthen its overall competitiveness
and business growth in the interior design industry in
Hong Kong.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our
sincere appreciation to the support and trust of our
shareholders, business partners and customers. | would
also extend my gratitude and appreciation to all the
Directors, management and staff for their hard work
and dedication throughout the vyear. | believe all
members of the Group will dedicate their best efforts
to drive business growth and to deliver enhanced
returns to Shareholders.

Chan Norman Enrique
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board announces the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2021 together with the
audited corresponding comparative figures.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue decreased from approximately HK$73.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$53.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$19.9
million or 27.2%. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in revenue from residential, commercial
and show flat and sales office projects.

Cost of services

Cost of services for the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2021 amounted to approximately HK$30.4 million
and HK$25.9 million,
decrease of approximately HK$4.5 million or 14.8%.

respectively, representing a
The decrease was mainly due to a combination of

factors, including (i) an increase in subcontracting

charges; and (i) a decrease in direct staff costs.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 March 2021, gross profit
amounted to approximately HK$27.3 million, which
decreased by approximately HK$15.4 million from
approximately HK$42.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. The decrease in gross profit was mainly
due to the decrease in revenue which decreased by
approximately HK$19.9 million. Gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 58.4% for the year
ended 31 March 2020 to approximately 51.4% for the

year ended 31 March 2021.

BEERWR D

EEeEMAKERE T _—F=-A=1T"HLFE
ZFEERGE EREEZHEBLRHET -

51 % [l B8
O

WARBE-_ZT-_ZTF=A=1+—HIFELHIZIES
ATTRERHE T —F=A=1T—HILFEHS32
BEBT KIENI99ABAETLH272% - THKILIER
BARET ARULRBEM N EREEERATEK -

BR & B 45
REERARBE_ZE_TEFR_T-_—F=A=+—H
IFEDRAA304B8EEBITLL25988E L - KL
ASHBEITH148% c THMNEEFANZHERAZEZ &
FOPBEEBREA  RMNEEBE ITRATE -

ENREFN=E

BE_Z-_—4F=-A=+—BHILFE EFHAE273HB
BALT BHEZZ-_ZEF-A=-1+—HLEFEMNY
DRIEEBTLRLONISIBEST - EFRLEBZ LA
PATERLOI1095EBETLHAN - EFXHEBEE-Z=
TF =A==+ —HIFEN84% " HEHE_T = —
FZA=+—HIEFELH51.4% °

BETEEZERERAQ T 202021 F F R

N

5



y /_Q/

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
S ER S

Other income

Other income for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2021 amounted to approximately HK$0.4 million and
HK$3.6 million,
increase of approximately HK$3.2 million. The increase

respectively, representing a significant
was mainly due to government grants for the
(the "ESS") of
approximately HK$3.6 million received for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Employment Support Scheme

Other losses

Other losses decreased from approximately HK$0.9
March 2020 to
approximately HK$2,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021,
approximately HK$0.9 million.

million for the year ended 31
representing a significant decrease of
Such decrease was
mainly attributable to (i) decrease in other loss on fair
value of approximately HK$0.5 million on key
management insurance policies held at the end of year;
and (i) the impairment loss on leasehold improvements
of approximately HK$0.4 million recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately
HK$22.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$19.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$2.5 million or 11.3%.
attributable to the decrease in expenses in salaries and

Such decrease was mainly

allowances, other staff related costs, overseas travelling
and other expenses associated with activities related to
business development as compared with the same
period last year.

Finance costs

Finance costs, which comprised interests on bank loans
and lease liabilities, decreased by approximately HK$0.2
million or 13.0%, from approximately HK$2.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately

HK$1.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Profit/(Loss)before tax

The increase in profit before tax, from loss before tax
approximately HK$39.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2020 to profit before tax approximately HK$9.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2021,
representing a significant increase of approximately
HK$48.9 million.

Such increase was mainly attributable to a combination
of factors, including (i) the decrease in revenue of
approximately HK$19.9 million; (ii) the decrease in cost
of services of approximately HK$4.5 million; (iii) the
increase in other income of approximately HK$3.2
million; (iv) the decrease in administrative expenses of
approximately HK$2.5 million; (v) the decrease in other
losses of approximately HK$0.9 million; and (vi) the
non-recurring listing expense of approximately HK$57.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Income tax

Income tax decreased by approximately HK$2.0 million
from approximately HK$3.2 million for the year ended
31 March 2020 to approximately HK$1.2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021. Such decrease in income
tax was mainly due to (i) the decrease in revenue by
approximately HK$19.9 million; and (ii) the effect of
non-taxable income of the ESS subsidy of approximately
HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive income

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2021 increased by approximately
HK$50.8 million, from loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020
approximately HK$42.6 million to profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021 approximately HK$8.2 million. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the combined effect of the
aforementioned items.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
S ER S

Charge over assets of the Group

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s banking facilities are
secured by the Group’s key management insurance
policies at fair value of approximately HK$16.5 million.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the total borrowings and lease
liabilities of the Group was approximately HK$49.6
March 2020:
million). The Group’s borrowings which contain a

million (31 approximately HK$54.7
repayment on demand clause are classified as current
liabilities.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of
March 2020:
approximately HK$114.0 million), including cash and

approximately HK$113.7 million (31

cash equivalents of approximately HK$64.2 million (31
March 2020: approximately HK$58.1 million).

CURRENT RATIO AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has a current ratio of
(as at 31 March 2020:
Gearing ratio was not

1.7 times
1.4 times).
applicable as the Group was in net cash position as at
31 March 2020 and 2021.

approximately
approximately

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any
material capital commitment (as at 31 March 2020:
Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2020: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2021, the capital structure of the
Company comprised issued share capital and reserves.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 4
November 2019 (the “Prospectus”), on 22 November
2018, the Company, Limited and
Kingston Securities Limited entered

Messis Capital
into the
underwriting agreement (as amended and restated on
16 May 2019, the “Underwriting Agreement”) in
relation to the share offer (the “Share Offer”)
comprising: (i) the public offer of 113,839,925 Shares
for subscription by members of public; and (i) the
preferential offering of 113,839,925 Shares to the
qualifying shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”) of the
Company on an assured basis.

Completion of the Share Offer took place on 13
November 2019. An aggregate of 227,679,850 Shares
(the "Offer Share(s)”) of HK$0.0001
aggregate nominal value of HK$22,767.985 were

each with

allotted and issued to members of public and the
qualifying Shareholders at the offer price of HK$0.19
per Offer Share pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Underwriting Agreement. The Offer Shares were
allotted and issued pursuant to the specific mandate
granted by the independent Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
24 June 2019. As disclosed in the Prospectus, the gross
proceeds from the Share Offer of approximately
HK$43.2 million will be applied as to (i) approximately
HK$24.7 million for settlement of the professional fees
and expenses in relation to the reverse takeover and
deemed new listing of the Company including
underwriting commission under the Underwriting
Agreement; and (ii) the balance of approximately
HK$18.5 million as general working capital of the
Company (including but not limited to the repayment
of the outstanding amount of loan in excess of
approximately HK$18 million (if necessary) under the
loan agreement (the “Investor Loan Agreement”)
dated 5 December 2017 (as amended and restated on
23 November 2018 and 16 May 2019) and entered

into between the Company and Whistle Up Limited.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
S ER S

The utilisation of the gross proceeds as at 31 March R-ZE-—F=A=+—HZFEHIAEE

BBRIBERE

10

2021 is set out as follows: T
Reallocation
Amount of Balance of  of unutilised Balance of
the gross the gross gross the gross
proceeds proceeds  proceeds on Utilised gross proceeds
Intended use utilised up to unutilised up 23 June proceeds unutilised up
of gross 31 March  to 31 March 2020 during the  to 31 March
proceeds 2020 2020 (Note 1) Year 2021
R-BZZ2F
HZE EE KRAZtZ=H EZ
ZB-RE CZBIEE ENOE —B--F
=ZA=+-8B =A=t-H ABAM =ZA=t-H
RENEAE ZCBRAME ZABARE BRELE FRAEBR ZABAFRE
RERR MESE FUIAELR (M=E1) FIEFELAE NELBRER
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET
Settlement of the ENEBRIEREE
professional fees and ARAHLET2E
expenses in relation to $BEARAX (B
the reverse takeover BHBEET 2B
and deemed new #ERL)
listing of the Company
including underwriting
commission under the
Underwriting
Agreement 247 (24.5) 0.2 0.2) — —
General working capital AREZ—REERS
of the Company (BEATRNEE
(including but not BIELI18SEEET
limited to the LRBERELE
repayment of the HEE(WERE))
outstanding amount of
investor loan in excess
of approximately
HK$18 million
(if necessary)) 18.5 (2.4) 16.1 0.2 (16.3) —
Total @5t 432 (26.9) 16.3 — (16.3) —
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Note:

1. Since the professional fees and expenses in relation to
the reverse takeover and deemed new listing of the
Company including underwriting commission under the
Underwriting Agreement have been fully settled, as a
result such proceeds were reallocated and utilised as
general working capital during the year ended
31 March 2021.

The Company has utilised all the gross proceeds from
the Share Offer in accordance with the proposed use of
proceeds disclosed in the Prospectus and the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

During the year, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.

DEBT RESTRUCTURING AND REDEMPTION
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As part of the proposed restructuring of the Group, the
Company and its creditors entered into the schemes of
arrangement (the “Creditors Schemes”) pursuant to
Sections 666 to 675 of the Companies Ordinance of
Hong Kong (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and Section 86 of the Companies Law (2018 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands, which become effective upon
the filing of the court orders sanctioning the Creditors
Schemes with the relevant companies registries in Hong
Kong and the Cayman Islands
November 2019.

respectively on 13

Upon the Creditors Schemes becoming effective, the
5-year convertible bonds in an aggregate principal
amount of US$50,000,000 and bear interest at the rate
of 2% per annum issued on 12 May 2015 which
would expire on 12 May 2020 and convertible into
225,433,526 shares of the Company immediately prior
to the reorganisation of the share capital of the
Company completed on 22 October 2019 (the “Capital
were

Reorganisation”) having become effective,

cancelled in full.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
S ER S

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange
risk of US$, RMB, Japanese yen and New Taiwan
dollars. Under the pegged exchange rate system, the
financial impact on exchange difference between HK$
and US$ will be immaterial as all US$ denominated
monetary assets and liabilities are held by group entities
having HK$ as their functional currency. For RMB,
Japanese yen and New Taiwan dollars, as the amount
involved is insignificant, the foreign currency risk arising
from RMB, Japanese yen and New Taiwan dollars is
immaterial.

CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its key

management insurance policies, trade and other
receivables, contract assets and bank balances. The
Group’s credit risk on key management insurance
policies held and bank balances is limited since the
counterparty is a top-tier financial service provider with
good reputation and banks with high credit-ratings. In
respect of trade receivables and contract assets,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers, which focus on the customer’s reputation
and past history of making payments. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt and contract asset regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable debts. For other receivables,
management makes periodic individual and collective
assessments on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records and past
experience. In this regard, the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.
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LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises
primarily from its bank loans. These bank loans bear
interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing

market condition.

For further details on the Group’s exchange rate risk,

credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk
management policies and practices, please refer to note

6 in the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 61 employees (as
at 31 March 2020: 67 employees). Total staff costs
including directors’ emolument for the year ended 31
March 2021 amounted to approximately HK$28.9
(for ended 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$34.0 million). Their remuneration,

million the vyear
promotion and salary review are assessed based on
each employee’'s qualifications, relevant experience,
position and seniority. The employees in Hong Kong

joined the mandatory provident fund scheme.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 31
management life insurance policy, which are classified

March 2021, the fair value of two key

under financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, amounted to approximately HK$16.5 million,
representing approximately 14.5% of the Group's total

asset.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
S ER S

The Group is entitled to interest at a rate of 5% per
annum applied on the balance of the cash value for
two years from the date of the payment of the
premium. Commencing from the third year, the interest
rate for the policy is 1.25% per annum plus a premium
determined by the insurance company on an annual
basis. After the first ten policy years, no guaranteed
minimum interest rate is applied on the cash value.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets for the coming
year.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (31 March
2020: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in provision of interior
design and execution services to premises including
private residences, corporate offices, service apartments,
show flats and sales

hotels, residential clubhouses,

galleries.

The Group’s goals are to achieve sustainable growth
and further strengthen its overall competitiveness and
business growth in the interior design industry in Hong
Kong. The Directors of the Company are of the view
that the Group’s capability to understand customers’
requirements and transform far-fetched concepts into
visionary solutions that embrace functionality and
aesthetics has gained trust and appreciation from
customers and enabled the Group to be one of the
reputable players in the interior design industry in Hong
Kong.
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The Group will remain cautiously attentive over the
the
macroeconomic environment across

market conditions given unpredictable
the globe,
particularly when COVID-19 pandemic remains as a
threat to the health and safety of global and local
communities. Moreover, the vaccination rate in Hong
Kong as well as worldwide, all of which play a crucial
role in the economic recovery. Despite weakening
market sentiment, the Company is of the view that the
Hong Kong residential market is likely to be supported
by relatively low mortgage rates and continuous

demand.

The Group will continue to capitalise on opportunities
by leveraging the Group’s competitive strengths and
implementing the following strategies: (i) maintain and
strengthen market position in Hong Kong; (ii) enhance
brand recognition and strengthen marketing efforts;
and (iii) continue to recruit talents and enhance internal
training to support future growth.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Stock Exchange issued the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules which sets out the principles and the
code provisions which listed issuers are expected to
apply and comply. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and

code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

The Company considers the maintenance of a high
standard of corporate governance important to the
continuous growth of the Group. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of the Group’s business based on the principles
and code provisions as set out in the CG Code. In the
opinion of the Board, other than the deviation from
code provision A.2.1 (as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE” below),
and C.2.5, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31

March 2021.

Under Code Provision C.2.5 of the CG Code, the
Group should have an internal audit function. The
Group conducted an annual review on the need for
setting up an internal audit department. Given the
Group's simple operating structure, instead of setting
up an internal audit department, the annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group has been conducted by a professional third
party and reported to the members of the Audit
Committee. The review covered material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions of the Group. The
Board is of the view that appropriate measures have
been put in place to manage the risks and no major

issue was raised for improvement during the review.
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The key corporate governance principles and practices
of the Company are summarised as follows:

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for
securities transactions by Directors set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.
The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors
4 times a year reminding them of the general
prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed securities
during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of quarterly, interim and annual results.
The Company confirms that, having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The Company has adopted the same code of conduct
for securities transactions by relevant employees to
regulate certain employees of the Group who are
deemed to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company when dealing in the
securities of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibilities for decisions making in all
major matters of the Company include approving and
monitoring of all

policy matters, the setting of

objectives, annual budgets and overall strategies,

material transactions, appointment of directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the senior
These

implementation of decisions of the Board,

management. responsibilities include the
the co-
ordination and direction of day-to-day operation and
management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions entered into by
these senior management and the Board has the full
support of them to discharge its responsibilities. In
addition,

responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details

the Board has also delegated various

of these committees are set out in this corporate
governance report.
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The Board
performing the corporate governance duties as set out
in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code, which
include:

is also responsible for, among others,

to develop and review the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of
(if any)
applicable to the Directors and employees; and

conduct and compliance manual

to review the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the corporate governance

report.
The Company has arranged appropriate liability
insurance coverage for all the Directors, including

company securities, employment practices, regulatory
crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and
public relation, etc., which is to be reviewed by the
Board on a regular basis.
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Composition

the Board
comprises five Directors and their respective details are

As at the date of this annual report,

set out as follows:

RAFHAN EEROTAEFEN TRSEE2
HERIMT :

Length of
Name Position Age Gender Ethnicity services
adey B £ £ A W5 BR %% £F 5
Executive Directors Mr. Chan Norman Chairman & Chief 60 Male Chinese 25 years
Enrique executive officer
HITES PREE S e FERITHAER ES H 254
Mr. Lee Alex 56 Male Chinese 25 years
Kam-fai
FiRERE 5 aE 254F
Independent Mr. Kwong U Hoi Chairman of Remuneration 55 Male Chinese 1 year
non-executive Andrew Committee
Directors
BYIFRATESF BFHEE FHWEZEETE 3 H B 14
Mr. Wong Chairman of Nomination 52 Male Chinese 1 year
Jonathan Committee
HAEBEE REZEETE 3 H B 14
Mr. Chi Chi Hung Chairman of Audit 52 Male Chinese 1 year
Kenneth Committee
FEESE ERZEETRE ES T E 14
Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the MAFIRFAWEEIN  EF 2K E ML 2 MBS -

Board members have financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the

section headed “Biographies of Directors and senior
management” on pages 76 to 83 of this annual report.
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Board Diversity Guideline

The Company has a board diversity guideline (the
“Board Diversity Guideline”) setting out the approach
to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Guideline, the Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
The

ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and

professional experience, skills and knowledge.
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Guideline from time to time to ensure its
continued effectiveness.
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL

The Board has established the Nomination Committee
on 30 March 2012 with details set out in the
paragraph headed “Nomination Committee” on page
30 of this annual report.

According to the Article 83(3), the Board shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board.
Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

According to the Article 84(1), at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at annual general
meeting at least once every three years. The Company
believes that such practice meets the same objective
and no less exacting than those prescribed under code
provision A.4.2 of the CG Code.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
in the
memorandum and articles of association of the

and removal of Directors are laid down

Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
electronic means of communication at least four times
every year to determine overall strategic direction and
objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual
results, and other significant matters. All Directors are

ExEea

ExeriRoggBasEME R ARLBFET
MREs® NETEBRBEIARERE  THESFE -
TR FEXEUNREMEREE - EREFEL TR
SHEMRBREARATEUEN® - REEFA B
RO ETHEZS SRR TEREZTRD 40BN AE

SEEREATHZEBATIGR EXEREFZES
(ERRESRBHAI & BABA (ERNAAADR
SRAMAE) BRiE 2SR XM AN E - 288
EXLESREENENAKENTHNESTERESS
SEgRN AEEBZZEMAFTEWLE) - Bk

given an opportunity to attend and include matters in

5

the agenda for discussion. During the year under
review, at least 14 days’ notice were given to all
Directors for a regular board meeting in order to

comply with the relevant code provision of the CG

\

Code. The Board and Board committees members are RERZ  WEFTE  EENEEZELKETAMRE
supplied with comprehensive meeting papers and fEEEEBERNMEGE—FHER -

relevant materials within a reasonable period of time in
advance of the intended meeting date (in any event no
less than 3 days before the date of the meeting). All
Directors and the Board committees members are given
opportunities to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board and Board committees meetings and/or
their meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision-
and the Board
committees members are free to have access to the

making process, the Directors
management for enquiries and to obtain further
information, when required.

SREHERIN RANSREEBTHAEFRHEH
AEEXBRPHRNEBERZEN - ARAZARMWE ([2
ARE DI EHFASHCHEMIAN R LR RERER
P RRRIFH RS - RESERNHHEESE LB ES
B RR SR E DI T &

Apart from regular meetings, our senior management
from time to time provides Directors with information
on activities and development of the businesses of the
Group. The company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary"”) takes detailed minutes of the &
meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and

decisions resolved at the meetings. Individual
attendance records of each Director at the respective
Board and committee meetings are set out in the

following section.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT
MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the
meetings of the Board and its respective committees
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows:

ESERgR2HFETH
EERHE—
EAMEE R SR REAENT

E_—F-A=T-"BLEFEREFER

il

Annual Extraordinary

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Name of Director Meeting Committee ~ Committee Committee  Meeting Meeting
RRBF

EEpg ESZ283 ENZEE FMZEEE REZEE A& RRBHAE

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Chan Norman Enrique Bt 4/5 — — — 11 —

Mr. Lee Alex Kam-fai THBEE 5/5 — — - 171 —

Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTEES

Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew BFREE 5/5 5/5 11 11 11 —

Mr. Wong Jonathan HEBEE 5/5 5/5 11 1/1 11 —

Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth FE gL 5/5 5/5 11 7 171 -
Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board B EMl@HIN TEEFeHErSECHEEHN2ES

approval were arranged by means of circulation of
written resolutions of all Board members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under Code
Provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors (the “Chairman and Independent non-
executive Directors Meeting”). During the year, one
Chairman and Independent non-executive Directors
Meeting was held.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by
written resolutions were well documented. Minutes of
the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All
professional development for the year ended 31 March
2021
related to corporate governance and regulations to

Directors have participated in continuous

by attending training courses on the topics

comply with the relevant code provision. All Directors
are continually updated with legal and regulatory
developments, and the business and market changes to

facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the Group structure,
Board and Board Committees meetings procedures,
business, management and operations of the Company,
etc. and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements in the Cayman Islands and
Hong Kong. During the vyear, all
in the regarding
directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the GEM
Listing Rules through online trainings provided by the

the Directors

participated induction program

Stock Exchange, which covered, among other topics,
the CG Code, GEM Listing Rules and directors’
continuing obligations.

All Directors have provided that Company with their
respective training records in compliance with code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code.
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According to the records maintained by the Company,
the Directors received the following training regarding
roles, function and duties of a director of a listed
company or professional skills in compliance with the
new requirement of the CG Code on continuous
professional development during the year ended 31
March 2021 up to the date of this annual report:

Name of Directors

REARAFEZRE  EERNBE_T-_—F=H
=T BUEFEEEAFHRANESTIEB LT AR
Ex7AC BREKBBIETEEEATRIEHEE
BXBERINBREZIERRBEZEI

Attending training
courses/seminars/
reading materials

HEEAIRE

EEpnE B A R
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chan Norman Enrique e v
Mr. Lee Alex Kam-fai TR V
Independent non-executive Directors B FHITES

Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew BB A& V
Mr. Wong Jonathan BEHEBRE v
Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth EEM L v

Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and
materials to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge
and skills from time to time. All the information and
materials are relevant to the Group’s business, the
economy, corporate governance, rules and regulations,
accounting, financial or professional skills and/or
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to each Director. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’'s expense. The Company
Secretary is responsible to keep records of training

taken by each Director.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of CG Code provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company deviates from this provision as
Mr. Chan Norman Enrique acts as the chairman and the
chief executive officer during the year under review. In
view of Mr. Chan Norman Enrique being one of the
founders of BTR WORKSHOP LIMITED, and his
responsibilities in overall management and major
decision-making, the Board believes that it is in the
interests of both the Group and the Shareholders to
have Mr. Chan Norman Enrique taking up both roles
for effective management and business development.

The Board also believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person
has the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and
efficient overall strategic planning of the Group. The
Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and this structure will enable the Company to
make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.

The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances
of the Group as a whole.

ERERRE

FERITHER
PESETASTAEXEA2VERT - THETHRER
WECRERD TR — ARERT - BRREE
EREBFEREEERRITERAE - AR &I F
X o $ETAPR 44T %4 ABBTR WORKSHOP LIMITED &9 Al 3
AZ— TABREBRTENEARK  EZTLHEAR
AR EERITRBHETREEINEERE
BER FARAEERBRENF G -

EXeBE AR - ABREEERITREEBLE T
REERAEERN 2 EWMAE  WEREE 2 BERES
DEAMXENEG - EFERA BB IEERE
B - Bk 2R E AN R BF AR K B RUt 1R
K BHRE o

ExellERy YK RASEEBEINERE
FEEREBRDOEFTGEERARBTTRAEE 2B -
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM listing Rules, the
Company must have three independent non-executive
“INED(s)");
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or

Directors (the one of them must have

related financial management expertise.

The Company has received annual written confirmations
from Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew, Mr. Wong Jonathan
and Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth, all being the INEDs as
at the date of this annual report, in respect of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

As Mr. Chi Chi
professional

Hung Kenneth has appropriate
qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise, the Company has also
complied with the requirement under Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Board has established three Board Committees,
namely, the audit committee (“Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”), for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board Committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference,
which are posted on the GEM’'s website at
www.hkgem.com and the Company’'s website at
www.unionasiahk.com. All the Board Committees
should

recommendations made.

report to the Board on their decisions or

The practices, procedures and arrangements in
conducting meetings of Board Committees follow in line
with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings

set out above.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

BUFHTES

RIBEGEM EM AR AISE5.0506 - ARRIMEB=RBIUIF
HTES((BYUFYTES])  EF - ALEEEEE
BXERKGHHAAAYBEEFT R

ARRERFEGEM EHRRNES. 09 FMBFHLE - &
FREERFTHARE (2B AR AFREHPZHL
FNTER) 2BYUMBRSERELFEEEER - AR
ARREEBLFNTERTH/EL

HNEEHEEERAEEXE RN XNAEYKE
BEENGE - ARFIEESFGEM EM R AIZE5.05(2) %
IHRNZHE -

EEZEE

ExecRU-—AEEZEe MEZZES([ER
£ZEg)) ¥FWZEe(FMEESGRREEZE
2((REBZEEE]) EEARAEHZ2HEHE - AT
EEEZESHERY YRR TCEARESHE
H T & A GEMA swww.hkgem.com & 7K 2 &) 48 ik
www.unionasiahk.com e FTBEEZ B8 AR EIEL 2
AERLEBMNEETGER -

BTEZZRGRRAZER BFARFEVERNTE
MTEREXAEEHESTEERE X -


http://www.hkgem.com
http://www.unionasiahk.com

All
resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable

Board Committees are provided with sufficient

request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s
expense.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2021 and up to date of this annual
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew (chairman),
Mr. Wong Jonathan and Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth.

The
Committee are set out

roles and functions of the Remuneration
in the written terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee which
include the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of the non-executive
Directors and to review and approve performance-based
remuneration. The terms of reference can be obtained
from the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the operation model where it performs an advisory role
to the Board, with the Board

authority to approve the remuneration packages of

retaining the final

individual executive Directors and senior management.
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Pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
the remuneration of the members of the Board and the
senior management by band for the year ended 31
March 2021 is set out below:

REBEEERTATAIRXFEBISK  EEGRSRE
BEKERBE-_S-_—F=A=1t—HLFEZHMH
REBEZHEINWT

Number of
In the band of Individuals
& & A B
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 6
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,00178 75 £ 2,000,000 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7L % 3,000,000 7T Nil 4
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001/ 7T £4,000,0007% 7T Nil &
Over HK$4,000,000 #B3184,000,000%8 7T Nil £

Details of the remuneration of each Director and the
five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out
14 and
statements,

in notes 15 to the consolidated financial

respectively, contained in this annual

report.

The Remuneration Committee meetings records during
March 2021,
attendance records of each Remuneration Committee at

the year ended 31 and the individual
the meeting of the Remuneration Committee is set out
on page 24 of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2021 and up to date of this annual
report,
INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Jonathan (chairman), Mr.
Kwong U Hoi Andrew and Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth.

the Nomination Committee comprises three

The roles and function of the Nomination Committee
are set out in the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee which include the review of the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board, making
recommendations on any proposed changes and on the
appointment and reappointment of and succession
planning for Directors and to assess the independence
of INEDs. The terms of reference can be obtained from

the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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In respect of the appointment and reappointment of
Directors, the Nomination Committee adopted a
nomination policy concerning the selection criteria and
procedures. The factors that would be used as
reference by the Nomination Committee in assessing
the suitability of a proposed candidate are reputation
for integrity, qualifications, skills and experience that are
relevant to the Group’s businesses having regard to the
corporate strategy and commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest. In the case of

nominating the candidate for appointment/
re-appointment as an INED, in addition to the selection
criteria to which the Nomination Committee would give
due regard, the independence of the candidate would
be assessed with reference to the independence criteria
set out in the GEM Listing Rules. If an INED serves
more than nine consecutive years, particular attention
would be given to reviewing the independence of such
INED for determining his eligibility for nomination by
the Board to stand for re-election at a general

meeting.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity
Guideline which sets out the approach to achieve and
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the
Company’s business growth. Pursuant to the Board
Diversity Guideline, selection of Board candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
qualifications, skills,

background, professional

knowledge, and industry experience. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that

the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences and
industry background, including but not limited to
experiences in interior design and architecture, legal and
financial industries. The Directors also have a diverse
education background including architecture, law,
business administration and accountancy. The INEDs
include solicitor, barrister and certified accountant. The
three INEDs who have different industry backgrounds
and professional qualifications, represent more than one
third of the Board members. Taking into account the
Company’s business model and specific needs as well as
the different backgrounds and abilities of the Directors,
the composition of the Board satisfies the Board
Diversity Guideline, despite the lack of gender diversity.
The Company will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including
but without

management levels. While the Company recognises that

limitation at the Board and senior

gender diversity at the Board level can be enhanced
given its current composition of all-male proposed
Directors, the Company is committed to provide career
development opportunities for female staff and seek to
shortlist at least one suitable female candidate for all
the
continue to apply the principle of

future appointments to the Board. Nevertheless,
Company will
appointments based on merits with reference to the
Board Diversity Guideline as a whole.

The Nomination Committee meetings records during the
ended 31 March 2021, and the
attendance records of the each Nomination Committee

year individual

at the meeting of the Nomination Committee is set out
on page 24 of this annual report.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

EEEATEZERETEESMASG  BRETRNE
AEARGTREE  ZERERITEZER -EETA
BEZTLEEER BEREE A2 IBHeEBERkE
it W IEMITE R BREEA - KR MRS -
“RBUATEFEBTRATESRREXER 6

EXekBBBE=D Z—(’Z‘“%Jﬁﬁ Az EHEAR
HEFEULESZZTRAER CEERZMERE

T BEEHERTA %%Aﬁé\yrnﬂz?a%l /NG
RESREBITHESARRMBEBER 2R ZTE - B8
BRETRRNAEEESELSREEEER -BEARRAE
REBABEEEERZESTHEHNMRBRAANEESTSE
MZERZ T ARBABNASLMEETRHTERR
e USKRESEMARRZERFRLD —RAE
THEAEAE - A KRB ERLEBL2EES
EXREBEZTLESIREHERZERE -

Tﬁ%é,%@ﬁ“%%zfﬁffﬁ
ZrLik o MERBZBENR
aﬂﬁ’z%zﬁ(\\zlii#&%mﬁ °

BIEFEAE
SR @RHE

D]]IJ [

\

=R=1—
H%BE®



Audit Committee

As at 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth (chairman),
Mr.
Mr.
chairman of the Audit Committee, who holds the

Kwong U Hoi Andrew and Mr. Wong Jonathan.
Chi Chi Hung Kenneth currently serves as the

appropriate professional qualifications as required under
Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee are set
out in the written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee which includes overseeing the relationship
with auditor, reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and reviewing and approving the Company’s
annual reports and accounts, interim report and
quarterly reports to the Board. The terms of reference
can be obtained from the website of the Company and

the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee meetings records during the year
ended 31 March 2021 and the individual attendance
records of the each Audit Committee at the meeting of
the Audit Committee is set out on page 24 of this
annual review the

report. The meetings were to

financial results and reports, financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company's

internal control and risk management review and
processes, as well as the re-appointment of the external
auditors. Pursuant to code provision C.3.3 of the CG
code, the members of the Audit Committee should
liaise with the board and senior management and meet
the external auditors at least twice a year. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, the members of the Audit

Committee met four times with the external auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31
March 2021
thereon.

and provided advices and comments
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There is no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee regarding the re-appointment of
external auditor.

The minutes of meetings have been kept by the
secretary of meetings (who should normally be the
Company Secretary). The draft and final versions of
minutes have been sent to all committee members for
their comment and records within a reasonable time
after each meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board
governance policies and practices,

reviewed the Company’s corporate
training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
the senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the code of conduct
for securities transactions by Directors set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this corporate governance

report.

ATTENDANCE OF GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
chairman of the Board should attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and he should invite
the chairmen of the Audit
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee

Committee, the

and any other committees (as appropriate) to attend.
Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code,
INEDs and other non-executive Directors should attend
the general meetings of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the annual general meeting of
the Company was held on 7 August 2020 (the “2020
AGM") and all the then Directors had attended the
2020 AGM.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration in
respect of audit services and non-audit services provided
by the Company’s external auditor, RSM Hong Kong, is
set out below:
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BB B &

REEERN  BEARRIIMNEZBMERXSER
FFT iR Bt IR KOEBAT IR 2 Hr &SI T -

Fee paid/

Services rendered payable
FriR AR %5 et E
HK$'000

T T

Audit services FEHART 1,500
Non-audit services EEFT AR 415

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s financial statements for each financial
period and to ensure that the financial statements are
in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board also ensures
the timely publication of the financial statements. The
Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, confirm
that they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

As at 31 March 2021, the Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial

statements.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors,
RSM Hong Kong,
financial statements are set out in the Independent

on the Company’s consolidated

Auditor’'s Report on pages 113 to 115 of this Annual
Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that it is
willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group established and
maintained appropriate and effective risk management

and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and
internal controls that are significant to the Group on an
on-going basis. The Audit Committee would consider
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
and training of staff and external advisor of the
audit and financial

Group’s accounting, internal

reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for
designing, maintaining, implementing and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system to
ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the
Group's assets and stakeholders’ interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures
to address and handle significant risks associated with
the business of the Group. The Board would perform
annual review on significant change of the business
environment and establish procedures to response to
the risks resulted from significant changes of business
environment. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to mitigate the potential losses of
the business.
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The management would identify the risks associated
with the business of the Group by considering both
internal and external factors and events which include
political, economic, technological, environmental, social
and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed and
prioritised based on their relevant impacts and
occurrence opportunities. The relevant risk management
strategy would be applied to each type of risks
according to the assessment results. Type of risk

management strategy has been listed as follows:

—  Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of
risk or undertake actions by the Group to reduce
the impact of the risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or

objective so as to avoid the risk;

—  Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect
of the risk or allocate to different location or
product or market; and

—  Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a
third party.

The
implemented to reduce the risks associated with the

internal control systems are designed and
business accepted by the Group and minimise the
The

management and internal control system are designed

adverse impact resulted from the risks. risk

to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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During the year under review, the Group has yet to
establish its internal audit function during the year
ended 31 March 2021 as required under code provision
C.2.5 of the CG Code, the Board has appointed an
independent adviser to conduct a special review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Group. The review has covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions and some
recommendations were provided in the internal control
review report. The Group has focused on improving
control

internal and has gradually reorganised the

existing daily operations.

There is currently no internal audit function within the
Group. The Directors have reviewed the need for an
internal audit function and are of the view that in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal
audit function for the Group in order to meet its
needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to
review at least annually the need for an internal audit

function.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31
March 2021, the risk management and internal control
system and procedures of the Group, covering all
material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the
Board through the chairman of the Board on
governance matters and also facilitates induction and
The
Company Secretary reports to the chairman of the

professional development of the Directors.
Board. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the
law, rules and

Board procedures, all applicable

regulations are followed.
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Mr. Tang is engaged and appointed by the Company
from an external secretarial service provider as its
of Mr.
refer to the section headed

company secretary. For details Tang's

qualifications, please
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of
this report. The primary corporate contact person of the
Company is Mr. Cheung Chi Kin, chief operation
officer. According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules, Mr. Tang has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update his skills and knowledge during the period
under review. He will continue to comply with the GEM
Listing Rules and take no less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training in each financial year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an
the
shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting

opportunity for communication between
of the Company shall be held in each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Annual
report, interim report and quarterly reports offer
comprehensive information to the shareholders of the
Company on operational and financial performance
whereas annual general meetings provide a forum for
the shareholders of the Company to exchange views
directly with the Board. All of the Directors and all of
the members of the Audit Committee attended the
2020 AGM to answer questions raised at the meeting.
Each general meeting, other than an annual general
meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general

meeting (the "EGM").

Right to convene EGM

According to the Articles, any one or more shareholders
of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meeting of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREAWE

BEEHARNRBIINERMERBHREBZEERETER
HRARMWE - BUABLEERZFE  F2HAHRE &
EREREEERE] - ARARZEERABBEA
BB BRI A - BIEGEM ETTAR RIS 5.150& -
HEEBDERFEREBEHRETTORI5/EEBEE
EEI o AEFHEFERNG - BBE#EBTGEMET
FA - WREHRFEEET TIN5/ RAEBEEE -

% R AE R

ARABERASREHEHNRAEZTEER - ARF
BERBFASEASFHEFTSAURBETMMRIT - F
HFHBRERFTEREREERIBRAARR AR
REH2ZEAER  MERBFASRHEFEHAQAMR

REEZSERRINER 2REZFLERZES SR

KREHEHE_Z-_TFERRABFASG  BES LY
B o BRIRRIBFE K& ERRREEEBRRE
Alre ((RREBRIAE]) -

BRKRRER K SHEF

RIFAR - A —BHALREHEREBFATIR
ARBMERFNNARBBRRAE LRENEBEBA
THZ—HARARREGNVEMRIEAEEEZENEETS L
RAMEBRLEEE R BEREFEARABREF K
€ UREABEREFHNERER -

BETEEZERERAQ T 202021 F F R

5

=y

39



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREAWE

The request will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene a EGM by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered members.
On the contrary, if the request has been verified is not
be advised of this

outcome and accordingly, a EGM will not be convened

in order, the shareholders will
as requested. If within twenty-one (21) days from the
date of the deposit of the proper and orderly
requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to the
requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according
to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

— At least 14 clear days’ notice in writing (and not

less than 10 business days) if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company

in EGM;

— At least 21 clear days’ notice in writing (and not
less than 10 business days) if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company in

EGM.
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Right to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send
their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Flats A-G, 15/F, 15 Chong Yip Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders of the Company should follow the
procedures set out in the sub-section headed “Right to
convene EGM” above for putting forward proposals at
general meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication
with shareholders of the Company is essential for
enhancing investor relations and investors’
understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with the shareholders of the Company
and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The website of the Company is

http://www.unionasiahk.com.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has approved and adopted the Inside
Information Policy for the Company for monitoring
inside information to ensure compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
The procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information as set out in the

Inside Information Policy are summarised below:

Handling of Inside Information

1. Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to
the Board and/or is the subject of a decision by
the Board in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules. In cases where a decision by the Board is
pending or in cases of incomplete negotiations,
the Group shall implement the procedures set out
in the Inside Information Policy to maintain the
confidentiality of information. Until an

the Directors should

is kept strictly

If the confidentiality cannot be

announcement is made,

ensure that such information
confidential.
maintained, an announcement shall be made as

soon as practicable.

2. Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of
inside information, they shall inform the Directors
and the Company Secretary immediately, so that
remedial actions, including making an inside

information announcement, can be taken at the

earliest opportunity.

3. The Group’s Finance Department shall keep track
of the Group’s threshold levels for disclosure
pursuant to the size tests under the GEM Listing
Rules, so that an announcement can be made as
soon as practicable should a notifiable transaction
arises.
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Dissemination of Inside Information

Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the GEM
Company

(www.hkgem.com) and the
(www.unionasiahk.com). The electronic
publication system of the GEM is the first channel of
dissemination of the Group’s information before any

other channel.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for
the handling and dissemination of price sensitive
information, the Company is aware of its obligations
under Part XIVA of the SFO and the GEM Listing Rules
and has established the
sensitive information disclosure policy with close regard

inside information/price-
to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Future Commission.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, the Company has not
made any changes to its constitutional documents. An
up-to-date version of the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company is available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy
on 23 June 2020 ("Dividend Policy”) which shall take
effect on 23 June 2020. The Board has the full
discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, subject to the
memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the GEM Listing Rules, the applicable laws
and regulations of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands,
and any other laws and regulations applicable to the
Company. Any final dividend for a financial year will be

subject to shareholders’ approval.
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The Board shall take into account the cash reserves, the
financial results, financial position, cashflow situation,
business conditions and strategies, current and future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and
expenditure plans, interests of shareholders, prevailing
economic environment, any restrictions on payment of
dividends of the Group and any other factors or
conditions that the Board may consider relevant when

considering the declaration and payment of dividends.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environmental,
"ESG Report”) to
provide an overview of our Group’s management of

Social and Governance Report (the
significant issues affecting the operation, including
environmental, social and governance issues. The ESG
Report is prepared by our Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited.

Preparation basis and scope

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix
20 to the GEM Listing Rules —
and Governance Reporting Guide”
with
Rules.

Environmental, Social
and has complied
“comply or explain” provision in the GEM Listing

The ESG Report summarises the performance of our
Group in respect of corporate social responsibility,
covering its operating activities which are considered as
material by our Group which is principally engaged in
the provision of interior design and execution services
to premises including private residences, corporate

offices, service apartments, hotels, residential

clubhouses, show flats and sales galleries in Hong
Kong. With the aim to optimise and improve the
disclosure requirements in the ESG Report, our Group
has taken initiative to formulate policies, record relevant
data as well as implement and monitor measures. The
ESG Report shall be published both in Chinese and
English on the website of the Stock Exchange. Should
there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and the

English versions, the English version shall prevail.

Reporting period

This
initiatives during the reporting period from 1
2020 to 31 March 2021.

ESG Report demonstrates our sustainability
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RE HE8RERRS

CONTACT INFORMATION

Our Group welcomes your comments and suggestions
on this ESG Report for our sustainability initiatives.
Please contact us by email to info@unionasiahk.com.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in provision of interior
design and execution services to premises including
private residences, corporate offices, service apartments,
show flats and sales

hotels, residential clubhouses,

galleries in Hong Kong.

The Group aims to achieve sustainable growth and

further strengthen its overall competitiveness and
business growth in the interior design industry in Hong
Kong. The Directors of the Company are of the view
that the Group’s capability to understand customers’
requirements and transform far-fetched concepts into
visionary solutions that embrace functionality and
aesthetics has gained trust and appreciation from
customers and enabled the Group to be one of the
reputable players in the interior design industry in Hong

Kong.

The Group will continue to capitalise on opportunities
by leveraging the Group’'s competitive strengths and
implementing the following strategies: (i) maintain and
strengthen market position in Hong Kong; (ii) enhance
brand recognition and strengthen marketing efforts;
and (iii) continue to recruit talents and enhance internal
training to support future growth.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s
business depends on the support from its key
stakeholders, who (a) have invested or will invest in the
Group; (b) have the ability to influence the outcomes
within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact
of the Group’s activities, products, services and
relationships. It allows the Group to understand risks
and opportunities. The Group will continue to ensure
effective communication and maintain good relationship

with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of
the Group’s roles and duties, strategic plan and

business initiatives. The Group engages with its
stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial relationships
and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the

marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence
gained from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and
continuous interest in the Group’s business activities.
The Group has identified key stakeholders that are
important to our business and established various

channels for communication. The following table
provides an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders,
and various platforms and methods of communication

are used to reach, listen and respond.

Issues of concern

EIEE

Stakeholders
HHE
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Engagement channels
2 HRE

Government and

Comply with the applicable laws and

On-site inspections and checks

regulatory regulations o Research and discussion through work
authorities J Proper tax payment conferences, work reports preparation
o Promote regional economic and submission for approval
development and employment o Annual reports and announcements
o Website of the Company
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Stakeholders

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R g REBRE

Issues of concern

Engagement channels

& BEEHE SERE
Shareholders and o Return on the investment o Annual general meeting and other
Investors o Information disclosure and shareholder meetings
transparency J Annual reports and announcements
J Protection of interests and fair e Newsletter
treatment of shareholders o Websites of the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
o Company contact information
BREERREE e  KREMM®H e KRAFAREREMBRAE
. BRIENERE . FHMERE
. REER R Az KA FFB . E R
. ARARPEREEBERSGMERLD
Gk
. EANYNSS) bR
Employees o Safeguard the rights and interests of e Meetings and conferences
employees o Trainings, seminars, briefing sessions
o Working environment o Entertainment and cultural activities
o Career development opportunities o Feedback box
J Self-actualisation
o Occupational health and safety
o Staff remuneration, benefits and
well-being
=] s REESHEMNEER s TBHKEZE
o  IEIRIR o HIl -HEERENE
. ERERKS o RERULED
. BHRER . B RREM
s BXREFREZE
. BITHM - BH REt
Customers o Safe and high-quality products o Email
o Stable relationship o Visits and meetings
J Information transparency
o Business ethics
®F . e RBEEER . B
s  REBRE e Eakgm
. BRER
. BRER
Banks o To repay loans on schedule, monitor e Work conferences
operating conditions and risks and e On-site visits, post-loan tracking and
operate with honesty and credibility various business communication
R1T e RREEER ERLERIARE o IFE®

B T R
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Stakeholders
HHE

Issues of concern

BIEE

RE HEREERS

Engagement channels

Financial Institution e
and regulations

Compliance with the applicable laws

Financial Institution

BB HE o  ETERERIER o KR
Peers/Industry o Experience sharing and cooperation e Industry conference and seminars
Associations o Fair competition o Site visit
GEFEE 32 s RBHOFHEAE e fIXRERMMIEE
. NEFEF . B E
Media o Transparent information o Media
=y o  EHREH s R
Public and o Community involvement o Charity and social investment
Communities o Social responsibilities
RBATRHEE . Zil:/,\ . BRERMERE
. HEEMR

Through general communication with stakeholders, the
Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group
to make more informed decisions, and to better assess
and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in
the ESG reporting by understanding the key ESG issues
that are important to the business of the Group. All the
key ESG issues and key performance indicators (KPls)
are reported in the ESG Report according to
recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide
(Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules) and the

guidelines of Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI").
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RE HE8RERRS

The Group has evaluated the materiality and

importance in ESG aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry
Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the
review of relevant ESG reports of the local and
international industry peers.

o The materiality of each ESG area was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to the
Group through internal discussion of the

management and the recommendation of ESG

Reporting Guide (Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing

Rules).

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder
Engagement

o The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key
ESG areas identified above to ensure all the key
aspects to be covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material
Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the
Group's management ensured all the key and
material ESG areas, which were important to the
business development,

were reported and in

compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.
As a result of this process carried out in 2021, those
important ESG areas to the Group were discussed in
this ESG Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations
and its business activities do not have significant
impact on the environment or natural resources.
We recognise that we have an obligation to
reduce the impact of our operations on the
environment and be accountable for the
resources and materials that are used in our daily
operations. We are committed to continuously
improving our environmental sustainability by
responsibly managing our operation, reducing our
carbon footprint and using resources effectively.

Throughout the year, the Group fully complied
with all of the relevant environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, such as the Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311), the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358), the
Sewage Services Ordinance (Cap. 463) and the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354). Besides, no
concluded cases regarding environmental issues
were brought against us or our employees. We
also regularly update ourselves with the latest
development of the applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection.

Apart from complying with the environmental
protection rules and standards, the Group
emphasises environmental protection and seeks
ways to enhance efficiency in the use of natural
resources and reduce the environmental impact of
its business operation. We take the initiative to
formulate and implement the “Corporate
Environmental Policy” to establish relevant
emissions reduction and energy saving initiatives
internal policies and campaigns to facilitate the
effective use of natural resources and eco-friendly
operation. We also encourage employees to build
up environmentally friendly habits through notice
and promotion to save resources and minimise
pollution.
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A1l.
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Emissions
Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutant emissions control is essential to
mitigate the impact on the environment and
to protect the health of employees. As the
Group is mainly involved in general office
activities, the amount of air pollutant
emissions is insignificant. Our air pollutant
emissions are mainly generated from the
We take
transportation
reduction of air

mobile sources. initiative to
formulate plans in
management for the
pollutant emissions in our daily business
operation, for example encouraging
employees and clients to take video
instead of

conference unnecessary

transportation.

The details of air pollutant emissions of the
Group during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 was as follows:

A1.

BER

R R

ZHIZE RS RDBE R BRERE R E R
RERERFEZEE—R ANAEETR
BR—RPREEE  WERTRYFRE
Hil e BPIZ=ZRSRARMFEREERERD
R e RPEBHIEBE RS - OB R
BEBPZERSRYYR - OIS EREE
MEFPRARGEZME T L EBLHE

REE T - —FK _E-_FF=AF=+—
HIEFE - AEEZRISEMBENEFBNT

Air Pollutant Emissions Unit 2021 2020
Z= 555 R B By —E=—F —_T_TF
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) kg 1.02 0.98
AEILHNO) N
Sulphur dioxide (SO,) kg 0.02 0.03
— &L H(SO0,) DR
Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.08 0.07
FF KT (PM) DT
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Greenhouse Gas (the "GHG"”) Emission

GHG is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change and
global warming. The Group recognises that
climate change is gradually concerned by
the community as it affects our daily life
and poses a risk to its business. Hence, we
are committed to mitigating the effects of
climate change and to protecting the health
of employees.

The major sources of our GHG emission are
the fuel used by vehicles and indirect
emission through electricity consumption for
our office operation. The Group strives to
improve energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption so as to minimise GHG
emission by adopting energy saving
initiatives mentioned in the section “Use of
Resources” of this ESG Report.
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! Scope 1:

2 Scope 2:

The details of GHG emission of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020 was as follows:

REBEZE_ZE-_—FR-_F-_ZF=-A=1+—
BIEFE  AEBBZEREHMGERBDT

GHG emission Unit 2021 2020
BE R K B —E-—F —E-EF
Scope 1’ tonnes of CO,-e 3.86 5.96
#HE WE—SLARE

Scope 2? tonnes of CO_-e 52.76 79.93
#[F] 22 WE—SLIE 8

Total GHG emission tonnes of CO,-e 56.62 85.89
mEREBEHENE M — | ixE 8

GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO,-e/employee 0.96 1.28
mZ= RS HE A B WE_EtiEE EE

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes BEREEEEY

Waste management is considered as one of

the material topics in environmental

protection. The Group recognises the
Waste

been

importance of waste reduction.

management measures have
introduced and implemented to minimise
the amount of waste generated and the
With our

no hazardous waste is

impact on the environment.
business nature,
generated or discharged during the office
operation.

Direct emission from sources that are owned or
controlled by our Group.

Indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by our Group.
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For non-hazardous waste, the waste is
mainly generated from daily office
operation. The Group takes initiative to
reduce waste by formulating effective
measures. Generally, we have engaged
qualified recycling companies to collect and
handle the waste in accordance to the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) in
Hong Kong. The major source of our
non-hazardous waste is paper waste.

With the aim to reduce the amount of
waste generated, the Group endeavours to
cultivate environmental awareness among
employees. In order to reduce the paper
consumption, we encourage our employees
to consider environmental-friendly printing
such as double-sided printing and copying.
We also encourage employees to reuse
single sided non-confidential print out. The
waste paper is re-used as fillers for packing
when practicable.

The Group actively promotes electronic
communication such as emails to reduce the
amount of paper used. In addition to paper
saving, we also encourage employees to
reuse stationery such as envelopes and use
reusable items such as reusable cutleries
and cups. All these measures are geared at
reducing waste such as paper waste which
can help mitigate the global greenhouse
effect as well. Recycling bags are available
for paper collection. All paper boxes, paper,
newspaper and magazines are collected for
recycling purpose.

RE HEREERS

REZTEREYME  BEVIERAAEMHR
NELE - AKEFEEFEEMES - T8
WMARE e —RME > RFACEFRERE
WRBIREEECEMEE GPHIH(E354F)
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RBLMELRENE AEBEHNEERRE
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The details of non-hazardous waste RBEZE-—FR-_F-TF=A=+—
generated by the Group during the years AIEFE  ASEMEARESEEVFEN
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 was as N
follows:
Waste generated Unit 2021 2020
ELEBEERY b —E-—fF —_E_TF
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 1.74 2.29
generated
EEBREREREY s
Non-hazardous waste tonnes/employee 0.03 0.03
generated intensity
EXEREEEDER g, &8
During the years ended 31 March 2021 REBEZE_Z-_—FRk_ZF-_FTF=A=+—
and 2020, non-hazardous waste recycled by BIEFE  AEERTRREEZEZYIF RN
the Group was as follows: I
Waste recycled Unit 2021 2020
R EEE Y By —E=—F —_T_TF
Paper recycled tonnes 1.12 1.62
[5] iz 4 5 g
Paper recycled intensity tonnes/employee 0.02 0.02
B 4R ok % S g, & 8
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Use of resources

The Group considers environmental
protection as an essential component of a
sustainable and responsible business. We
have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable
development of the environment and this to
attach importance to efficient utilisation of
resources by introducing various measures in
daily office operation. We understand that
staff participation is the key to achieve such
goals. We strive to build up a working
environment that emphasises the “green
office” policy such as a set of guidelines to
improve the efficient use of resources for
long-term sustainability. We also motivate
our employees to participate in resources
conservation activities to promote resources
saving.

Energy Consumption

The Group considers environmental
protection as an essential component of a
sustainable and responsible business. With
the aims of resource saving and
implementation of energy saving measures,
we actively promote the concept of energy
saving and emission reduction into the
entire process of its business development
and operation and implements different

energy saving measures.

A2,

RE HEREERS

BERER
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Regarding energy consumption of the
Group, petrol and purchased electricity
mainly result from fuel used by vehicles and
premises operation respectively. The Group
endeavours to reduce the energy
consumption by advocating various energy
conservation strategies. For examples, we
choose to use power-saving facilities and
reduce the number of equipment used.
Computers are switched to energy-saving
mode when they are not in use for a long
period of time. All power supply in the area
is switched off while idle. Besides, the
temperature of air-conditioners is
maintained at an energy-efficient level to
reduce the energy consumption. Energy
conservation reminders are placed to
increase employees’ awareness of energy
saving. We will consistently seek ways to
improve energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption in our facilities in the future.
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The details of energy consumption of the
Group during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 was as follows:

RE HEREERS

REBEZE_ZE-_—FR-_FE-_TF=-A=1+—
ALEFE  AEBEREAFBOT

Energy Consumption Unit 2021 2020

BERFEA By —E-—F —T_FTF

Purchased electricity MWh 142.59 159.86

BAEN JKELBF

Petrol MWh 12.66 19.57

L JKEBF

Total energy consumption MWh 155.25 179.43
RAEFEE JK FL B

Energy consumption intensity ~ MWh/employee 2.63 2.68

BEIRFEF 2 2

KEK,1&EE

Water Consumption

Water is another important resource used
for the daily operation. The business of our
Group is operated in office premises where
water supply is solely controlled and
centrally managed by its respective property
management of the buildings. In this case,
it is not feasible for the Group to provide
all relevant water consumption data as
there is no separate meter for the individual
office unit to record water usage. In spite of
this, we strive to prevent unnecessary water
consumption by promptly reporting to the
relevant department in case of leaking
faucet. We also actively raise employees’
awareness of water saving through green
office policy such as reminding employees
to turn faucet off tightly and conducting
regular inspection and maintenance of water
facilities.

Ak

KIRBEEERFEAZE —EEER K
SERPAEMELEETE  MEA2MH
KIEBEFEBZYEER BT RESD
B EWIBRT AEBEEEARHMEME
ARAKEE - REAFERPAEEMN LB
SEREHAKEE - BE WL - RIS
FRARRARAS ISR EKERBRER -
BETUNERK - BMITEEZENAEZR
KREBEREES CEKER  MIMREEES
F&a%@kﬁgﬁﬁu&E%*ﬂﬂﬁ&%ﬁ%fﬁ*%ﬁﬁﬁ °
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The environment and natural
resources

The Group continues to enhance the
environmental awareness of employees,

customers, shareholders and business

partners and enlist their supports in
improving the environmental performance.
With the

measures to reduce air pollutants and GHG

integration of policies and
emissions, waste generation and resources
consumption, we strive to enhance
environmental sustainability and minimise
our impacts on the environment. We will
review our environmental policy from time
to time and will consider implementing
further eco-friendly measures and practices
in order to enhance environmental

sustainability.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and labour practices

B1.

Employment

The Group believes people are our most
important asset to the continuing
development and success of our Group. As
such, we aim to attract and motivate
talents, maintain a safe and equal working
environment and promote health and
well-being of our employees. We pay special
attention to our employees’ rights and
strictly complies with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Cap. 608), Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485) and
other relevant regulations in Hong Kong.
The staff handbook covers our Group's
standard in respect of compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare.
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The Group strives to construct a diverse and
inclusive workplace where all our employees
are treated with dignity and respect. We
strongly oppose to all discriminatory
behaviours against any individual on their
gender, age, nationality, race, colour,
disability, creed, religion, sexual orientation,
marital status or family status. The principle
of equal opportunities is applied in all
employment practices, including but not
limited to recruitment, promotion and
transfer, work allocation, benefits and
training and development.

The Group has formulated competitive
remuneration packages to retain and
motivate employees in achieving key goals
of our Group. We provide remuneration for
its employees according to their
qualifications, experience, performance, job
duties and service years as well as to the
market benchmark. We perform salary
review on an annual basis to ensure its
remuneration practices are competitive and
aligned with market rate. In addition to
salary, we provide mandatory provident
fund, allowances, required social security
benefits, medical benefits and variable
incentive-based remuneration such as
discretionary bonus to our employees.
Employees are also entitled to various types
of leave including annual leave, sick leave,
maternity leave and paternity leave.

RE HEREERS
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The Group acknowledges the importance of
work-life balance and strives to maintain a
supportive and relaxing working
environment for our employees. We
organise activities such as annual dinner for
employees to relax and to strengthen their
sense of belongings. In addition to those
specified in the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57), we provide paid or partially paid
leaves and support services or activities for
our employees to handle urgent personal
and family matters. We also provide family
care and supports to our employees and/or
their family members to bring a positive
impact on their family life. We are
committed to building a pleasant working
environment to enhance the happiness of
our employees.

During the current year, our Group was not
aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that had
significant impact on our Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare. Any changes of employment terms
will be notified to staff and agreed in
writing to protect the lawful rights and
interests of all employees.
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RIE -HERERRS

As at 31 March 2021, the employee RZBE-—F=ZA=+—8 " &453 - EE
compositions by gender, age group and A FReBRIRMEE D 2 EEAKIBER
geographical region, employment category wm
and employment mode were as follows:
Employee compositions 2021 2020
EEAR —B_—F —T_FTF
By gender R BI85
e Male o Bk 42% 49%
e Female o LIk 58% 51%
By age group RE AR
e Age 30 or below ® 30 AT 22% 20%
e Age 31-40 e 31E405% 58% 60%
e Age 41-50 * 41E505% 10% 10%
e Age 51 or above e 51pRak A E 10% 10%
By geographical region R BE 5
e Hong Kong o BE 100% 100%
By employment category RERBENES
e Senior management s SREIRE 8% 8%
e Middle management e FRERE 9% 10%
* General o LiEEER 83% 82%
By employment mode REBER
e Full-time o 2% 97% 97%
e Part-time o I 3% 3%

BT EERARZD 202021 F F R
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B2.

The employee turnover rates by gender, age
group as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were

as follows:

N_E-—FR-_F-_TF=ZA=+—H
BRI FRARE D ZEERKEL RN

T

)

Employment Turnover Rate (%) 2021 2020
& B K H 2 (%) —E-—F —EEF
By gender BB &2

e Male o Bk 22% 18%
e Female o I = 24%
By age group RERE D

e 30 or below * 30pR A L = 42%
e 31-40 e 31E405% 11% 22%
e 41-50 ° 412505 31% —
e 51 or above o SIEREIA L = 14%
Overall &5t 10% 22%

Health and Safety

The Group takes into consideration every
precaution to establish a healthy and safe
working environment for its employees. We
place the highest priority on securing the
health and safety of all employees. In order
to ensuring occupational health and safety
of our employees, we strictly comply with
the rules and guidelines stipulated in the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Cap. 509) by the Labour Department in
Hong Kong and any other applicable laws
and regulations.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

B2.

RERZE

AEBEeZRE—ELESE  UREEZE
RENRZ 22 TIERE - RIIKERAA R
BzRFEZ2ENEMN - RERERZR
XEEELE RMABRETERS TR
(BER2LEEEANFES09E) RETEZ
FR BN B35 Bl A R AT E 8 PR R SR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Besides, with the aim to provide and
maintain a safe and healthy working
environment for employees, the Group
provides safety training for project team
before site visit during their work. We
support a culture that enhances the health
and safety awareness of our employees in
order to minimise the risk of work-related
injury. Green card information is reviewed
on quarterly basis to ensure employees
comply the construction safety rules. We
also provide medical benefits for our
employees and establish work arrangement
for typhoon and rainstorm warning. Besides,
we place great emphasis on the employees’
mental wellness. We provide information
and services regarding stress management
and mental wellness counselling for our
employees to relieve stress and to promote
mental wellness.

During the reporting period, our Group was
not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that had
significant impact on our Group in
providing a safe and healthy working
environment.
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B3.

HE

Development and Training

The Group believes that knowledges and
skills of our employees are vital to our
continued business growth and success. We
have established a “Staff Training and
Development Policy” to support our
employees in the performance of their
designated roles and help them to fulfill
their potential during the course of their
employment. We provide diversified
on-the-job trainings for our employees and
continue to improve the training system in
order to enhance their requisite knowledges
and skills in discharging their duties. During
the the detailed

breakdown of the percentage of employees

reporting period,

trained and the average training hours
completed per employee by gender and
employee category was as follows:

B3.

B R

AEERE - B8 2 M#LIKEE
HEREARNE@REE - & FﬁE%‘JEFE\
TIHIEBERBR]  XFHEERIERNH
BITHEBREL B REEEEN - HAR
RERHZ TICERIE - L RHEREE
BIE BRI EEBITRE S S R
BE o MIMEH - IR REEERIE DT
MBS Ao R &R E X2 F R 2
BRAREEDIS

Average training hours Percentage of employee

Training (hours/employee) trained (%)
T 15 3% 31 R B ZIEE
=3 (N EE) Ao (%)
2021 2020 2021 2020
—B-—F —_T_TF ZBZ—F _T_TF
By gender g F=E-R)
e Male e Bt 1.8 — 58% —
e Female o L 1.0 0.9° 42% 100%3
By employment REBERNE D
category
e Senior management s ARERE 1.7 — 8% —
e Middle management o FREIRE 1.2 — 8% —
* General s BEES 1.4 0.5 84% 100%?
The data of 2020 has been restated for comparative TR CTFNYTERRMNGEM ETRAINIERSE 1t g
purpose for adoption of the latest methodology RERESIBAF T BN RZIIE %Eﬁtbﬁﬁ$

recommended by the ESG Reporting Guidance of the
GEM Listing Rules for the computation of average
training hours and percentage of employee trained.
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Labour Standards

The Group respects the human rights of
employees, and is strongly against the
employment of child labour and forced
labour. We strictly emphasise on the
prohibition of engaging child labour and
forced labour. Adhering to the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57) and the Employment of
Children Regulations in Hong Kong, we
strictly prohibit recruitment of individuals
under the age of 15. According to our
“Human Resources Policy Guidelines”, job
applicants are required to present their
identity documents for age verification

during recruitment process.

The Group is committed to respecting the
freedom of employees and prohibiting all
forms of forced labour. All work should be
performed on a voluntary basis and the
working hours are regulated in the staff
handbook.

During the reporting period, our Group was
not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations related to
recruitment of child labour or forced labour
practices.

OPERATING PRACTICES

B5.

Supply Chain Management

As an interior design services provider, we
work with suppliers that supply office
equipment, printing and stationery. During
the primary engagement process, we select
more than one supplier for comparison
purpose and to ensure fair selection. With
the implementation of our “Environmental
Procurement Policy”, we strive to minimise
our impacts on the environment by
supporting and giving priority to purchase
recycled and environmental-friendly

products.
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B6. Product responsibility

The Group regards service quality as a key
competitive advantage of its business. We
continue to provide high-quality services in
order to enhance customer satisfaction. We
strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486), the Trade Description Ordinance (Cap.
362) and the Copyright Ordinance (Cap.
528) in Hong Kong. During the current
year, our Group was not aware of any
non-compliance regarding product
responsibility.

Quality Management

The Group has implemented a
Management Policy”
delivery of high-quality services to our customers.

“Quality
to ensure the continual

The Group believes the opinions from customers
can drive our continuous improvement and are
essential to our pursuit for excellence. We
welcome the opinions from customers by
establishing various communication channels with
customers, such as meeting with customers and
email.

B7. Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the
high standards of business ethics and
integrity in the conduct of our Group's
business and operation. We strictly comply
with all applicable laws and regulations,
including the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) in Hong Kong. Our
standards towards anti-corruption and
business ethics, incorporated into the staff
handbook, are communicated and
reinforced to our employees. Employees
shall not solicit or accept any forms of
bribing benefits, including banquets, cash,
gifts, rebates and commissions. If any case
of suspected corruption or other criminal
offence is discovered, it will be reported to
the Independent Commission Against
Corruption or other relevant authorities.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

B6.

EmEE
AEEERGERBETEH T EBFE
2o R TERUEBERE  EARSEP
mBRE - RABERETHBERIER
BREATRREBECEAER GLE) GO
($£486%) ~ (FF At BIERGN(FE362F) &
(iR BID(£528F) - RAFE - NEHE
Y AMBFERNEREREEIERBR

BEEEE

AEECERIEEEE

- ERFBERER

RHEE R -

AEERE BEFRLZERBHESHRMATEE

io

HMEBEFPEANEBEETFBERZR

B BEFRELESR -

B7.

KRES

AEBERSEXHLERARTRERKEZ
BB RWIE - HFIBRBETHEERZA
BIER - BREEECH L EAIN(E201
B) BMERERESEKARERZIEED
HABTFM  WEREEBBRNEERT
E ° 1EET’E'?HX(‘}ZHSZx{Eﬂﬁ/fEZﬁﬁﬁ%f'J

CBERES -HE 8% BHkEE-

ZZDE;’EEEEH \x%”t?élli%ﬁﬁkﬁ@ﬁﬂ%?éﬁz
R BRRBRAZFXEMBEERER -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group aims to avoid being directly or
indirectly involved in corrupt practices.
Employee who has a legitimate malpractice
concern can raise the matter directly with
the Chairman of the Audit Committee
(CAC). The Chairman of the Audit
Committee will review the complaint and
decide how the investigation should
proceed. Depending on the circumstances,
the Chairman of the Audit Committee may
consider nominating an appropriate
investigating officer or set up a special
committee to investigate the matter
independently. This policy has
approved and adopted by the Board of the
Company. The Audit Committee has overall
responsibility for
monitoring and periodic review of this
policy.

been

implementation,

During the reporting period, the Group was
not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that had
significant impact on the Group relating to
bribery, fraud and money
laundering. There was no legal case
regarding corruption practices brought
against our Group during the current year.

extortion,

COMMUNITY

B8.

Community investment

As a socially responsible corporate citizen,
the Group strives to contribute back to the
society and bring a positive impact on the
community. Our Group has been awarded
the excellence for the project IFC Market
Sea and MINH & KOK Restaurant by HKDA
in 2018.

In addition, the Group encourages its
employees to dedicate their time and skills
to participate in different voluntary activities
and be aware of community needs. We also
encourage our employees, customers and
business partners to make donations in
supporting the sustainable development of
the community.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

BR - HEREARE RS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R g REBRE

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THEHE - BH - —REERBEEEBIEZ(KPIs) 1] PN
A. Environmental
A BIE
A1: Emissions
A1 B
General Disclosure “Environmental Aspects” 51
—REE BRI ]
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective “Emissions — Air Pollutant 52
emissions data Emissions”
BREMIEER  HER RAEBBEREE [HER — Z=RIT R MR
A1.1
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 54
where appropriate, intensity Emission”
BERENEE LAZERBEAFNER(MER)®E (e — RAEREHEMR
A1.2
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, Not applicable to our Group’s N/A
where appropriate, intensity business.
BRENIEER ELANESEEDESR(WMER)RE THEAREKEERZER- A A
A1.3
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- 56
where appropriate, intensity hazardous Wastes”
BREVEERE ELNESEEVEREN(WER)RE [HHYW — AELREZTEED]
A1.4
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 53
emissions and results achieved Emission”
BRAEWEE  REHNE ARG & PTG (e — RAEREHEMR
A1.5
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- 54
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction hazardous \Wastes”
initiatives and results achieved
BRENEE ASTKETEEVERERZE RBIERE (R — BEREZEED]
A1.6 PfT I B LA A
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

RE - -dak

ERME

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THEHE - BH - —REERBEEEBIEZ(KPIs) 4: 1] PN
A2: Use of Resources
A2 BIREER
General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 57
—RIEE [&IREA
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption “Use of Resources — Energy 59
by type in total and intensity Consumption”
BREMEE ®RENZISHEER SHEELGERER [ERER — s8REA]
A2.1 ERARE
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Not feasible for our Group to N/A
obtain water consumption data.
BRENER FAKEEREE RNEE G RAKEIRI AT o i A
A2.2
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency “Use of Resources — Energy 57
initiatives and results achieved Consumption”
BREWEE IR A RCERE G K& P U [BIREA — sERAER
A2.3
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue “Use of Resources — Water 59
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, Consumption”
water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
BRENEE KEERAKRESESEEMERE  gKERE [BEREMA — BK]
A2.4 Ko Pf B PR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Not applicable to our Group’s N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference business.
to per unit produced
BREENIEE REEKGOEEMHRER(WER)E TEAREEER XK - i A
A2.5 EEEBEMGE
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 BIERRREIR
General Disclosure “The Environment and Natural 60
Resources”
—REE [RIT R RAEIR]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of No significant impact of activities N/A
activities on the environment and natural on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to resources was noted.
manage them
BRENEER AUHTHYUYRBERRABERNERTZEN TWEFREHEHRRRRAAZRD A
A3.1 K FERER )& B 1T B 7 B BATE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
TREHE - BH  —REERBEEEBIEZ(KPIs) 4:1] RN
B. Social

B. &

Employment and Labour Practices

BRERETIER

B1: Employment

B1: &%

General Disclosure “Employment” 60
—RIKE [ 1R ]

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment “Employment” 63

type, age group and geographical region
BREXEER RUH EEER  FREJKMBLE [ERF]
B1.1 EDHEEAH
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age “Employment” 64
group and geographical region

BRERER KU FREMNEMECESSRER [ERE]

B1.2 K&

B2: Health and safety

B2: RERRE

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 64

—REE [EERKEZ 2]

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities — —

BRENREE FAIEBEMIETH AR L X — —
B2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury — —

BREANEE BIGEXAXIEAH — —
B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and “Health and Safety” 65

safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored
BREREERE ROOBXEELZ2ER BREER [BEAZE]
B2.3 77 = E A
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RIE - HENEBRE
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THEHE - BH - —REERBEEEBIEZ(KPIs) 4: 1] /N
B3: Development and Training
B3 : BREKIEI
General Disclosure “Development and Training” 66
—RIRE [ K 3E ]
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by “Development and Training” 66
gender and employee category
BRENREE XIIEIBSHKEERR [ K 3E ]
B3.1
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and Training” 66
employee by gender and employee
category
BREMEE RUFILEERMESNERE T RKH [EREMEII
B3.2 19 I B 8
B4: Labour Standards
B4 : 55 TR
General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 67
—RIKE [45 TAR]
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review “Labour Standards” 67
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour
BREVEE BIERERABREI LRSS INE [5IT%ER]
B4.1 Hts &t B
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate — —
such practices when discovered
BRENRIEE AERREABAFEREMIEAMENRS — -
B4.2 g s
Operating Practices
EEEH
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : {EHEER
General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 67

—REE
KPI B5.1

RRAMRER
B5.1
KPI B5.2

REEMER
B5.2

Number of suppliers by geographical
region

BB ES S HNHEREAE
Description of practices relating to
engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
the
implemented, how they are implemented

where practices are being

and monitored
ZEMEERNER BEBEHETRAME
EEE - BrEMERF A

[t e E 2 |
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R g REBRE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
TREHE - BH  —REERBEEEBIEZ(KPIs) 4:1] PN
B6: Product Responsibility
B6: EmEE
General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 68
—REE [EmEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or — —
shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons
BRENEE CHEILEEMEHTRALZERERR — —
B6.1 RARWE E Dt
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related — —
complaints received and how they are
dealt with
BRENRIEE EEAHERMRBORFRENEEST — —
B6.2 =
KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to — —
observing and protecting intellectual
property rights
BREREETE BTNRENZEEEESIALRER — —
B6.3
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process “Product Responsibility — Quality 68
and recall procedures Management”
BRERIEE BERIFBENOWRERFHA [EmBEE — E=2E1E]
B6.4
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection “Product Responsibility —Customer 68
and privacy policies, how they are Data Protection and Privacy”
implemented and monitored
BREVEER HEEEHNREMLEBEER EBEREAER [Eaaf — FPERFRERL
B6.5 77w A =]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

RIE -HERERRS

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages
THEHE - BH - —REERBEEEBIEZ(KPIs) 4: 1] PN
B7: Anti-corruption
B7 : R&ES
General Disclosure “ Anti-corruption” 68
—RIEE [RE5]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases No concluded legal case regarding N/A
regarding corrupt practices brought corrupt practices was noted.
against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of
the case
BREANEER ARSHHARBTASEEEREYCE UWEBRBEBMESITRNERRMT - i A
B7.1 RNESRMGHE KRN
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti-corruption — Suspicious 69
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are Transactions Reporting”
implemented and monitored
BRENEE EhERKERER BRREEFASH REGT — RS8R
B7.2 A
Community
HE
B8: Community Investment
BS: HERE
General Disclosure “Community Investment” 69

—REE
KPI B8.1

RREARER
B8.1
KPI B8.2

HMREAMER
B8.2

Focus areas of contribution (e.g.
education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport)
EIEREE (HE  RREFHE HIFH
ko2 b - 85)

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time)
to the focus area

HEIHBEMERNER(MEEXER)

[(MTEERE ]
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENCSREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Norman Enrique (“Mr. Norman Chan”),
aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 13 November 2019. He is also a chairman
of the Board, chief executive officer and compliance
officer of the Company. Mr. Norman Chan is one of
the founders of BTR WORKSHOP LIMITED and
appointed as a director of BTR WORKSHOP LIMITED
since June 1995. Mr. Norman Chan is the sole director
of BTR (ASIA) LIMITED and BTR (INTL) LIMITED, and is
one of the directors of BTR (HK) LIMITED, BTR
WORKSHOP LIMITED and Absolute Surge Limited. Mr.
Norman Chan is

responsible for the overall

management, strategic development, financial

management and major decision-making of the Group.

Mr. Norman Chan has over 30 years of experience in
the interior design and architecture industry in Hong
Kong. He joined Wong & Ouyang Architects &
Engineers Limited as an architectural assistant from
1986 to 1988. He later served as an assistant architect
at Taoho Design Architects Limited from 1988 to 1991.
Thereafter, Mr. Norman Chan was employed as an
architectural design executive at Anthony Ng Architects
Limited from 1991 to 1992. He subsequently joined D.
Heung & Associates, Architects & Engineers Limited
from 1992 to 1995 as a design associate. He
established BTR WORKSHOP LIMITED in June 1995,
since when he has been a director of BTR WORKSHOP
LIMITED. Mr.
degree of architecture from Rhode Island School of
Design in the United States in June 1985.

Norman Chan obtained a bachelor's

Mr. Norman Chan is one of the ultimate beneficial
owners of Whistle Up Limited. He owns 96% of the
issued share capital of Whistle Up Limited which holds
approximately 65.09% of the issued share capital of
the Company as of the date of this annual report.
Thus, Mr. Norman Chan is one of the controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Lee Alex Kam-fai (“Mr. Alex Lee"), aged 56, was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
13 November 2019. Before joining the Group, Mr. Alex
Lee was a design layout artist at Edmonton Chinese
News from 1986 to 1989. He worked as an assistant at
Barry John Architect, Brinsmead Ziola Architect &
Associates from 1992 to 1993. Mr. Alex Lee worked as
a drafting technician at Northern Alberta Institute of
1994 to June 1994.
Subsequently, he was employed as a draftsman at D.

Technology from January
Heung & Associates, Architects & Engineers Limited
from June 1994 to June 1995. Mr. Alex Lee is one of
the founding staff of the BTR WORKSHOP LIMITED in
July 1995. Mr. Alex Lee is one of the directors of BTR
(HK) LIMITED and Absolute Surge Limited. Mr. Alex Lee
is mainly responsible for the overall operation of the
Group.

Mr. Alex Lee has over 20 years of experience in the
interior design and decoration industry in Hong Kong.
Mr. Alex Lee obtained a diploma in architectural
technology from the Northern Alberta Institute of

Technology in Canada on 22 April 1994,

Mr. Alex Lee is one of the ultimate beneficial owners of
Whistle Up Limited, and owns 3% of the issued share
of Whistle Up Limited which holds
approximately 65.09% of the issued share capital of

capital

the Company as at the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 55,
was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 13 November 2019 with
an initial term of three years commencing from 13
2019. He is

overseeing the management

November mainly responsible for

independently and
issues of

providing independent judgment on the

strategy, performance, resources and standard of

conduct of the Company.
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SEENeREEEER

Mr.
University of Liverpool in the United Kingdom in July

Kwong obtained a bachelor of law from the

1989. He has been admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of England and Wales since November
1992 and a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong
1993. 2010, Mr.
completed the advanced management program at

since May In  October Kwong

Harvard Business School in the United States.

Mr. Kwong has over 20 years of work experience in the
legal profession. During the period from 1990 to 1999,
he worked at various international law firms in both the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong including Barlow Lyde
& Gilbert (now known as Clyde & Co), Simmons &
Simmons, Denton Hall (now known as Dentons) and
Linklaters & Paines (now known as Linklaters). During
the period from 2000 to 2002, Mr. Kwong worked as
a senior investment manager of Hantak Limited, a
subsidiary of Hang Lung Group Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0010). Mr.
Kwong later returned to the legal profession and from
December 2002 to March 2013, he worked at various
multinational corporations, including DHL Express, a
division of DHL, an international logistics company, as
legal counsel for the Asia Pacific regional office and
Cigna Corporation, a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (stock code: NYSE: Cl), as general
counsel for the Asia Pacific region, which covered
multiple individual markets in the Asia Pacific region
and handled regional and cross-border matters. From
2013 to 2015, Mr. Kwong worked as the chief counsel,
Asia at AECOM, an American corporation listed on the
New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NYSE: ACM).
Since November 2016, Mr. Kwong became a director
and remains as a director of Brizan Investment Limited
which is an investment company primarily focusing on
robotics ecosystem investments, incorporated in the
Seychelles.
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Mr. Wong Jonathan (“Mr. Wong”), aged 52, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 13 November 2019 with an initial
term of three years commencing from 13 November
2019. He is mainly responsible for overseeing the
management independently and providing independent
judgment on the issues of strategy, performance,

resources and standard of conduct of the Company.

Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree of business
administration from the University of Western Ontario in
Canada in June 1991. He then completed Common
Professional Examination, a postgraduate law course,
offered by Manchester Metropolitan University in the
United Kingdom through long distance learning at
School of Continuing Education of the University of
Hong Kong in July 1996. He was called to the Bar in
Hong Kong in 1998 and by Inner Temple in the United
Kingdom in July 1998. He has been qualified as a
fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators since July
2011.

Mr. Wong has more than 20 years of experience in
legal industry. He was called to the Bar in 1998 and is
now practicing as a barrister at Parkside Chambers in
Hong Kong. He has handled cases involving civil
litigation, in particular, commercial disputes. Mr. Wong
also involved

in arbitration proceeding, mostly

construction-related disputes and mediation.

Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth (“Mr. Chi"), aged 52, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 13 November 2019 with an initial
term of three years commencing from 13 November
2019. He is mainly responsible for overseeing the
management independently and providing independent
judgment on the issues of strategy, performance,

resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
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Mr. Chi obtained a bachelor of arts in accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1991.
He was admitted as an associate member under The
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom in November 1994 and has maintained
his fellowship status since November 1999. Mr. Chi has
been an associate member under Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the United
Kingdom since November 1994, an associate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretary in
November 1994, and an associate member under The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since April 1996.

Mr. Chi has over 20 years of experience in accounting,
financial control and corporate governance. Mr. Chi
held/is holding directorship in the following public listed
companies in the past three years:

FRER-NN—FT-ABETEETIER CREEE
BIASZ)MEEABXBLBM - RE—NANATF+—
AEEZMRERRFEHMAEEERE - AAAE
t—AER-—ERFEEXREESMD - FTREB NN
FH—ABRRRBERKHAAFEELE (RAIEFANRER
THRABRE)EE R ANEOF+—AREBR
MELAEEERE - NMNARNFHUAEREESTNAE

(5o} o
=]

\
A

TRERNGT  MBESIRAGEESHEEF 205K
B FEENBA=FE EEETIRARETRARN
EER

Position Name of company (stock code) Duration
B £ DA EB (RO R) 58
Independent Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (2322) April 2011 — Present
non-executive (formerly known as Sam Woo Holdings Limited)
director
BYFRTESE FEHHEEERAR2322) S
(A =MEEBRRQA)
Independent Perfect Shape Medical Limited (1830) (formerly December 2011 — Present
non-executive known as Perfect Shape (PRC) Holdings Limited)
director
BYIFRTESF VEMEEERTFRAF(1830) —E——F%+ZRES
(RIfE Bk (P B ZERERAR)
Independent Greentech Technology International Limited (0195)  October 2012 — April 2020
non-executive (formerly known as Goodtop Tin International
director Holdings Limited)
BYIFRTES BB R BB AR A R1(0195) —E—_F+AZE
(A EHEEBEZERERAR) —E_TFA

Executive director

WITES

Executive director

MITEZS

TFG International Group Limited (0542) (formerly
known as Ceneric (Holdings) Limited)

= TE R & E AR A F)(0542)
(AiiEsrsE (R E) BRAR)

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (0559) (formerly
known as Hua Yi Copper Holdings Limited)

B se R =B A R 2 F(0559)
(AIEEEEEERARAR)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr.
48, joined the Group in March 2015 and is currently an

Leung Shiu Fung Kevini (“Mr. Leung”), aged
associate director of the Group. Mr. Leung is mainly
responsible for the overall project execution, design
strategy and client relations development of the Group.

Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in interior
design. He was first employed by BTR WORKSHOP
LIMITED in 1999. In 2009, Mr. Leung established BTR
(HK) LIMITED together with Mr. Norman Chan and Mr.
Alex Lee, and on 28 December 2011, Mr. Leung
transferred all his shares in BTR (HK) LIMITED to Mr.
Norman Chan before leaving the Group. During the
period from January 2012 to March 2015, Mr. Leung
worked at other interior design companies, including
AB Concept Limited where he worked as a senior
project designer. He later returned to the Group in
March 2015 and has been working there as an

associate director.

Mr. Leung obtained a bachelor of arts in interior design
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
December 1999.

Mr. Yeung Sai Cheong (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 41, is
the financial controller of the Company. Mr. Yeung is
primarily responsible for overseeing the overall financial
management of the Group.

Mr. Yeung obtained a bachelor of arts in accounting
and finance from Leeds Metropolitan University (now
in the United
Kingdom in July 2004. He was admitted as a member

known as Leeds Beckett University)

and as a fellow in February 2009 and February 2014
respectively of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Yeung has more than 14 years of audit experience.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Yeung worked for
David T.W. Fong & Co in the audit division from
August 2004 to June 2007. From July 2007 to
November 2013, he then worked at Nexia Charles Mar
Fan & Co with his last position as an audit supervisor.
From November 2013 to April 2018, he worked at Lo
and Kwong C.P.A. Company Limited/Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited (formerly known as Zhonglei (HK) CPA
Company Limited) as an audit manager. In April 2018,
he joined BTR HK as the financial controller.

Mr. Cheung Chi Kin (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 43, is
appointed as chief operation officer of the Group on 7
August 2018. He is responsible for overseeing the
administration, human

resources, operation and

business development of the Group.
He is a charterholder of the CFA Institute as a
chartered financial analyst since September 2010. He
received his bachelor of engineering degree in civil and
structural engineering from The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in November 2000 and
obtained a graduate diploma in finance from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in October 2003.

Mr.
international engineering consultancy firm, from
October 2000 to February 2005. His last position was
an assistant traffic engineer. Subsequently, Mr. Cheung

Cheung worked at Atkins China Limited, an

joined Koffman Investment Limited from June 2005 to
October 2008 as a project consultant. He then joined
Koffman Financial Group Limited from November 2008
to February 2009 as project consultant. Immediately
prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung was a project
consultant at Koffman Corporate Service Limited from
March 2009 to August 2018, a company that is
principally engaged in the provision of business
solutions and consultancy services, during the period
with Koffman Corporate Service Limited, he was also
appointed as a supervisor for a residential property
project by Henrich Development Limited from April
2011 to July 2013.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tang Chi Chiu (“Mr.
appointed as a Company Secretary of the Company on

Tang”), aged 37, was

29 November 2019. He has been appointed as a
director of TANDEM Groups Limited, TANDEM (HK) CPA
Limited, TANDEM (HK) Professional Services Limited,
TANDEM (HK) Corporate Services Limited and TANDEM
(HK) Consulting Company Limited since December 2011
(HK)
Limited since August 2017, for which he is responsible

and v-Change Merchants Services Company

for overall strategic planning.

He has over 11 years of experience in the field of
accounting, auditing and company secretarial services.
From February 2007 to April 2009, Mr. Tang worked in
HLB Hodgson
position as a senior accountant. He worked in
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited from January 2010 to
November 2011 with his last position as an assistant
From May 2012 to July 2013, Mr.
worked as a finance manager of Fortune Case Limited,

Impey Cheng Limited with his last

manager. Tang
a subsidiary of China Fortune Financial Group Limited.
In January 2017, Mr.
officer of Man Shun Group (Holdings)

Tang was the chief financial
Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1746), he was later promoted to an executive director
in February 2018 until his resignation in April 2019. Mr.
Tang was an independent non-executive director in
Optima Automobile Group Holdings Limited, a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock code:
8418) during 18 September 2019 and 24 September
2020.

Mr. Tang graduated from City University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration,
majoring in accountancy in November 2006. He further
obtained a master of science degree majoring in
finance from City University of Hong Kong in July
2016. Mr.
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
February 2011. Mr.
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Tang was admitted as a member of the
Tang is currently a practicing

Accountant in Hong Kong.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

A fair review of business of the Group during the year
under review, discussion on the key financial
performance indicators of the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the period under review is
provided in the paragraph headed "Events after the
reporting period” on page 104 of this annual report
and future development of the Group are provided in
the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from page 5 to page 15 of this annual
report.

Description of the environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group, relationships with stakeholders and principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found

in the paragraphs below.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to creating a successful
business that is not achieved at the expense of the
environment. The Group is dedicated to creating an
environmentally friendly and sustainable operation. The
Directors are not expecting that the business of the
have a significant

Group will impact on the

environment due to the nature of its principal
businesses. Details on Group’s environmental policies are
set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from page 45 to page 75 of

this annual report.
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Compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
interior design services to premises including private
residences, corporate offices, service apartments, hotels,
residential clubhouses, show flats and sales galleries in
Hong Kong. The Directors confirm that, during the year
under review and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group has obtained all the registrations and
certificates required for its business operations and had
complied in material respects with all applicable laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the

Group.

Relationships with stakeholders

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable
manner while balancing the interests of its various
stakeholders including

its employees, customers,

suppliers, business partners and the community.

The Group considers the relationship with its employees
is key to sustainable business growth. The Group is
committed to providing all employees a safe and
harassment-free working environment with equal
reward

opportunities in relation to employment,

management, training and career development.

As a customer-focused service provider, the Group
considers its customers as one of the most important
stakeholders. The Group is committed to serving its
customers to the best of its ability and continually
elevating the level of service excellence.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management process is integrated into the
day-to-day activities of and is an ongoing process that
flows through the Group.
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When performing risk identification, the Group takes
into account internal and external factors including
economic, political, social, technological, environmental
and new or updated strategy of the Group and new
regulations, as well as our stakeholders’ expectation in
these aspects. Each risk identified is analysed on the
basis of likelihood and impact consistent with risk
parameters set by the Board. Action plans are in place
to manage risks. Fundamental to the achievement of
our business goal is how the Group can effectively
manage existing and emerging risks in economic, social
and political environment. A description of the Group's
risk factors is shown as below.

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 March 2021 is set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND PROFIT DISTRIBUTION

Details of the Group's results for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 116 of this annual report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the financial year ended 31 March
2021 (for the financial year ended 31 March 2020:
Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years
ended 31 March 2017, 31 March 2018, 31 March
2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 are set out
on page 200 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year under review
are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
31 March 2021
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

are set out in Note 32 to the

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year under review are set out in
Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 119 and Notes 30 and 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively, in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available

for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association, amounted to
approximately HK$113.0 million (2020: HK$115.6

million).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations
during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (for the
financial year ended 31 March 2020: HK$Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year under
review and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Norman Enrique
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lee Alex Kam-fai

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew
Mr. Wong Jonathan
Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of
the Company (the “Article(s)”), at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. Chan Norman Enrique, Mr. Lee Alex
Kam-fai shall retire from office by rotation at the
(the "2021
offer themselves for

forthcoming annual
AGM"), and, being eligible,
re-election at the 2021 AGM.

general meeting

THE BIOGRAPHY OF THE DIRECTORS

details of the Directors of the
in the
"Biographies of Directors and senior management” on

The biographical

Company are set out section headed

pages 76 to 83 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at
the 2021 AGM has a services contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall
profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of his duty, or supposed duty, in their

respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for Director’s liabilities in respect of legal action
against its Directors arising out of corporate activities.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual written confirmations
from each of Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew, Mr. Wong
Jonathan and Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth, being all the
independent non-executive Directors as at 31 March
2021, in respect of their independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines set
out in the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the "SFO")) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including
positions which they were taken or deemed to have

interests or short

under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long and short positions in the ordinary
shares and underlying shares of the Company
and associated corporation

EERESTRAEREAR AR E[AEEE
EokH - HEROREEIETHESZRER

RZBZ—F=RA=+—HB ' FRAAEFRESTHA
BRARRSKEMAEEAE (ERRBFRAPIESNEE
7RG ERD (TR ERMEMR ) EXVE) 27 - 1
B R EET - A ARERE S MG RGIFEXVED
FIRFSDHAMERNRA Rz Bm kAR (B
TEARIRE 75 S BN E 150 A BRGS0 & (R R B B0
BHEER) RALHERARAREES LB HHE
N2FAGFEMERMANER RER  HREGEM L
MM AIZE5.46 2 5 5.68 1R BHE AR A MR ATy o
MEREINMT

REARBDREBEZE 2 EEBRREBRKREGH
MRERER

Interest in Approximate
The Company/Name of =~ Name of Director/  Nature of Interest in underlying  Total interest  percentage of
associated company chief executive interests shares shares in shares  shareholding
B2 /BRH RROFH REBRGH R4 8 REBL
KRR/ BHARER ABHE EEME & b 3 BmER Aok
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Notes 1 and 3)
(HisE1) (f5E1) (F5E1) GEAVE)
1. the Company Mr. Norman Chan Interest of 854,736,842 (L) — 854,736,842 (L) 70.00%(L)
(Note 2) controlled
corporation
1. RRA B4 RiELEES
(fzE2)
2. Whistle Up Limited Mr. Norman Chan Beneficial owner 96 (L) — 96 (L) 96.00%(L)
B4 EREAA
Mr. Alex Lee Beneficial owner 3 () — 3() 3.00%(L)
A EREAA
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Notes:

1. “L" represents long position in shares or underlying
shares of the Company or its associated companies and
“S" represents short position in shares or underlying
shares of the Company or its associated corporations.

2. Whistle Up Limited is beneficially owned as to 96% by
Mr. Norman Chan, 3% by Mr. Alex Lee and 1% by Ms.
Kwok Lai Yi Susanna (the spouse of Mr. Norman Chan).
Under the SFO, Mr. Norman Chan is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Whistle Up Limited.

3. The percentage is calculated on the basis of
1,221,052,631 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, so far
as is known to any Directors or chief executive of the
Company, none of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debenture of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the year under review was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries or associated corporations, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors (including their
respective spouses and children under the age of 18) to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of the
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any of its associated corporations, and
none of the Directors or their respective spouses or
children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe
for shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations or had exercised any such right during the
year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Pursuant to an agreement dated 11 December 2020
(the 2021 Tenancy Agreement”) made between BTR
(HK) LIMITED (the "BTR HK"), an indirect whole-owned
subsidiary of the Company as tenant, and Waldorf
Holdings Limited (the “Landlord”) as landlord in respect
of the lease of office premises for a term of twelve
months from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021
(both days inclusive) at a monthly rental of HK$348,000
(inclusive of all government rents and rates and
management fee) payable in advance in cash without
any deduction on the first day of each and every
calendar month. During the year ended 31 March
2021, the office rental paid by the Group to the
Landlord amounted to approximately HK$4,176,000 (for
the year ended 31 March 2020: HK$4,176,000). Mr.
Norman Chan, an executive director of the Company, is
interested in this transaction to the extent that the
Landlord is wholly and beneficially owned by him. For
details, please refer to the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this report.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual
report, no Director nor any connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or its subsidiaries or its holding company
was a party at any time during the year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
set up by the Board on the basis of their job
responsibilities, work performance, professional
experience and prevailing industry practices.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Board with reference to the recommendations from the
Remuneration Committee, with regard to the
Company’s operation results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
(as defined below) as an incentive to Directors and
eligible participants. Please refer to the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” on page 94 of this
annual report for details.
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Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in
Note 15 and Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively, in this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2021,
substantial shareholders of the Company nor any of

none of the Directors, the

their respective close associates (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which
has or may have significant competition with the
business of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31
Directors and the chief executives of the Company, the

March 2021, so far as is known to the

interests and shorts positions of the persons or
corporations (other than the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company) in the shares and underlying
shares as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Interests and short positions in the ordinary
shares or underlying ordinary shares of the
Company

shares of the
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BN AFREGEMBRAM E 15 RME14 -

EERTES
R-B-—4=A=+—0 HEEF ALALER
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% -

FERRRADARMD RABERD P HEDS
kER

RZBZ—F=RA=+—HB #EXRFAEFRESTHK
AEBFA AR TAALRAR(ARFEERES
TTHRABRIN RO REEERNF - HHEATERA
RABRBEEF LR GIIE3B6HATFENELMAN
BalER

RALNFEERIEEAEERTHERRE
B

Interest in
Interest in underlying Total interest in

shares of the

Approximate

shares of the percentage of

Name of shareholder Nature of interests Company Company Company  shareholding
RARXR  REAREE i NN IR R A
RRHEE LB BRME B 47 BY R 22 BomEs RONEER BO
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Notes 1 and 3)
(P& 1) (fzE1) (fzE1) (P71 %3)
Whistle Up Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 854,736,842 (L) — 854,736,842 (L) 70.00 (L)
EnEB A (fiz2)
Ms. Kwok Lai Yi Susanna interest of spouse (Note 2) 854,736,842 (L) — 854,736,842 (L) 70.00 (L)
FEERL fi s (M ak2)
Notes: B 5E
1. “L" represents long position in shares or underlying 1. [LIERA 2Rz RS BBR O PRS- M ISIER

shares of the Company and “S” represents short

position in shares or underlying shares of the Company.
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2. Whistle Up Limited is beneficially owned as to 96% by
Mr. Norman Chan, 3% by Mr. Alex Lee and 1% by Ms.
Kwok Lai Yi Susanna. Under the SFO, Mr. Norman Chan
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Whistle Up Limited. Ms. Kwok Lai Yi Susanna is the
spouse of Mr. Norman Chan. Ms. Kwok Lai Yi Susanna
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Norman Chan is interested in for the purpose of
the SFO.

3. The percentage is calculated on the basis of
1,221,052,631 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, so far
as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company, and based on the public records filed on
the website of the Stock Exchange and records kept by
the Company, no other persons or corporations (other
than the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) at the annual general
meeting (the “2012 AGM") of the Company held on 30
July 2012 (the “Adoption Date”). The scheme mandate
limit (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") of the share
Option Scheme was refreshed at the 2020 AGM.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
provide the Company with a flexible and effective
means of incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the
Participants (as defined below).
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Participants of the Share Option Scheme
and the basis of determining the
eligibility of the participants

The Board may, subject to and in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
and the GEM Listing Rules, in
discretion,

its absolute
invite (i) all full-time employees,
directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) and part-time employees with weekly
working hours of 10 hours and above, of the
(i)

member of the Group; (iii) associates of the

Group; substantial shareholders of each
directors and substantial shareholders of any
member of the Group; (iv) trustee of any trust
pre-approved by the Board; and (v) any advisor
(professional or otherwise), consultant, distributor,
supplier, agent, customer, joint venture partner,
service provider to the Group, whom the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or
contributes to the Group (the “Participant(s)”) to
take up options to subscribe for Shares at the
Exercise Price (as defined below).

Maximum number of Shares

As approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the 2020 AGM, the maximum number of
shares of the Company in respect of which
options may be granted under the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit is 122,105,263 shares of
HK$0.0001 each, which is equivalent to 10% and
10% of the issued shares of the Company as at
the 2020 AGM and 31 March 2021 respectively,
and represent 10% of the issued shares of the

Company as at the date of this annual report.
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Subject to the GEM Listing Rules, the overall limit
on the number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the relevant class of Shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company if
this will result in this limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting and according to the
manner prescribed by the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
Participant or grantee (including exercised and
outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue.

Further, any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such

grant:

(@)  representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
relevant class of securities in issue; and

(b)  (where the securities are listed on the Stock

Exchange), having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the securities
at the date of each grant, in excess of

HK$5 million,
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such further grant of options must be approved
by shareholders of the Company. The Company
must send a circular to the shareholders. The
grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

Offer period and amount payable for
options

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made
to Participants in writing (and unless so made
shall be invalid) in such form as the Board may
from time to time determine and shall remain
open for acceptance by the Participant concerned
for a period of 3 business days from the date
upon which it is made provided that no such
offer shall be open for acceptance after the
earlier of the 10th anniversary of the Adoption
Date or the termination of the Share Option
Scheme or the Participant to whom such offer is
made has ceased to be a Participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of an option. An option shall be
deemed to have been accepted when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
option duly signed by the Participant together
with the said consideration of HK$1.00 is received
by the Company.

Minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised

Unless prescribed in the offer, there is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised and
there is no specific performance target which
must be achieved before options can be exercised
stipulated under the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.
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The terms of the Share Option Scheme provide
that in granting options under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may offer to grant any
options subject to such terms and conditions in
relation to the minimum period of the options to
be held and/or the performance criteria to be
satisfied before such options can be exercised
and/or any other terms as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price (the “Exercise Price”) shall be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion
and notified to each grantee and will be no less
than the higher of:- (i) the closing price of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the date on which an offer is made to an
Participant (the "Offer Date”), (i) the average
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares at the time of
exercise of the option.

Remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force
for the period commencing from the Adoption
Date and expiring at the close of business on the
10th anniversary thereof, after which period no
further options will be issued but the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force
to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any options granted or exercised prior
thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

During the twelve months ended 31 March 2021,
no share options were granted, exercised,
cancelled, lapsed or forfeited. As at 31 March

2021, there is no outstanding share option.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, other than the share
options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
(as defined below), no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 March

2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregate revenue
attributable to the Group's largest customer accounted
for approximately 20.7% (for the year ended 31 March
2020: 33.2%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year
and the five largest customers taken together
accounted for approximately 59.0% (for the year ended

31 March 2020: 63.9%) of the Group’s total revenue.

Due to the nature of the business, the Group does not
have any suppliers of materials. During the year under
review, the cost of services of the Group mainly
consisted of staff costs directly attributable to projects.
The Group produced most of the design drawings by its
own in-house professional designers. Subcontracting
costs accounted for approximately 20.5% (for the year
ended 31 March 2020:

the Group. Drafting subcontractors may be engaged by

16.9%) of cost of services of

the Group for its project depending on the specific
project progress and the manpower available to the
Group.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and to the best
knowledge of Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any
largest
subcontractors or customers during the financial year

ended 31 March 2021.

interest in any of the Group's five
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong
and is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Norman
Chan,
Shareholder and the Landlord is principally engaged in
the holding and leasing of Flats A-G, 15th Floor and
P9, P10 and P11 on 3rd
Floor of 15 Chong Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong

an executive Director and a Controlling

private parking space Nos.

(the “Premises”).

Reference is made to the circular of the Company
dated 29 May 2019 in
agreement dated 22 February 2018 entered
between BTR HK and the Landlord (the
Tenancy Agreement”) in relation to the lease of the

relation to the tenancy
into
“Previous

Premises for the term from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2019. BTR HK exercised the option to extend
the tenancy of the Premises for a period of one year
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2020 pursuant to the term of the Previous Tenancy
Agreement by signing the option notice dated 21
October 2019 (the “Option Notice”) with the Landlord.
Pursuant to the Previous Tenancy Agreement, the
Group has been leasing the Premises from the
Landlord. As the lease of the Premises expired on 31
December 2020, after arm’s length negotiations, on 11
December 2020, BTR HK as the tenant and the
Landlord entered into the 2021 Tenancy Agreement in
relation to the lease of the Premises for a term of
twelve months from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2021 (both days inclusive) at a rent of HK$348,000 per
calendar month (inclusive of all government rents and
rates and management fee). For the year ended 31
March 2021, a total rent of HK$4,176,000 has been
paid to the Landlord.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021, the maximum
annual aggregate amounts payable (the “Annual
by BTR HK to the Landlord, which are

determined with reference to the rent payable by BTR

Caps”)

HK to the Landlord under the Previous Tenancy
Agreement and the Option Notice and the 2021
Tenancy Agreement, are as follows:

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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HE_Z-—F=F=1+—HIFE BTR HKENT%
FTrEeFEAcBE((EELR]  £2EBTR HKIRE
BEHEWRELREEBRNAE —_ T - —FHEREE
NFPEETzHEMET) DT -

Year ended

31 March 2021
BE-2=-—F
=A=+—H
LFE

HK$

& T

Previous Tenancy Agreement and the Option Notice
2021 Tenancy Agreement

Annual Caps

The Landlord is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Norman Chan, who is an executive Director and a
Controlling Shareholder. The Landlord is therefore a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
2021
contemplated thereunder constitutes a continuing

Tenancy Agreement and the transactions

connected transaction on the part of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Reference
is made to the circular of the Company dated 29 May
2019 in relation to the lease of the Premises under the
Previous Tenancy Agreement. As the Previous Tenancy
Agreement and the 2021 Tenancy Agreement both
relate to the leasing of the Premises, the Previous
Tenancy Agreement and the 2021 Tenancy Agreement
have been aggregated under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

BEHEREMEEEBA
—E--FHEWmZ
FELER

3,132,000
1,044,000
4,176,000
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Given that more than one of the applicable percentage
ratios (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) in respect
the 2021
Agreement (as aggregated with the Previous Tenancy

of the Annual Caps under Tenancy
Agreement and the Option Notice) exceed 5% but are
less than 25% and are less than HK$10,000,000, the
2021

contemplated thereunder is subject to the reporting and

Tenancy Agreement and the transactions

announcement requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules but is exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20

of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual
March 2021, the
Group did not enter into any connected transactions

report, during the year ended 31

which required reporting, annual review, announcements
and/or independent shareholders’ approval under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Payments of emoluments to the Directors pursuant
to their
appointment with the Company were exempt connected
transactions under Rule 20.93 of the GEM Listing Rules
while payments of emoluments/consultancy fee to senior

respective service contracts or letters of

management do not constitute connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

All the
reviewed the above disclosed continuing connected

independent non-executive Directors have

transaction for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
confirmed that the continuing connected transaction
has been entered into:

o in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

. on normal commercial terms; and

o according to the relevant agreement(s) governing

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to
report on the continuing connected transaction in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) "Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The independent auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transaction in accordance
with Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules. A copy of
the independent auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has
complied with the requirements of Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules in respect of all of its continuing
connected transactions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2021 in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of any related

are disclosed

party transactions which constitute continuing
connected transactions not exempted under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules are disclosed in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, other than the service
agreements or the letters of appointment of the
Directors, no management and administrative contracts
regarding the entire or any major businesses of the
Company have been entered into or have existed.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles and there is no restriction against such rights
under the law of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available and to the
best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 March 2021.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 May 2021, the Group has submitted the
relevant form to FWD Life Insurance Company
(Bermuda) Limited (the “FWD") for the withdrawal of
the life insurance policy entered into by BTR HK with
FWD on 23 March 2018 to insure Mr. Norman Chan
(the “Life Insurance Policy”) (collectively, the
“Withdrawal”) by BTR HK as the policy holder and
beneficiary, at the surrender value (after deduction of
surrender charge by FWD). The net proceeds from the
Withdrawal will be used for partial repayment of bank
loans granted to the Group which are secured by the
Life Insurance Policy. As at 31 May 2021, the surrender
value of the Life Insurance Policy amounted to an
aggregate of approximately US$1,047,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$8,129,000). Taking into account
that the Life
breakeven position, after due and careful consideration

Insurance Policy has reached the
by the Board, it is considered that the Company could
reduce the Group’s finance costs after partial
repayment of the bank loans which are secured by the
Life Insurance Policy. In view of the above, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the terms of the
Withdrawal are fair and reasonable, and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated 31 May 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on pages

16 to 44 of this annual report.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Limited
Capital”), the Company’s compliance adviser, save for

As notified by Messis Capital ("Messis
the compliance adviser agreement entered into between
the Company and Messis Capital dated 31 October
2019, neither Messis Capital,
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) nor any of its

its close associates (as

directors, employees has or may have any interest in
the Group or which is required to be notified to the
Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing
Rules as at 31 March 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to
review the Company'’s financial information and oversee
the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures. The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Audit Committee are in compliance with the CG Code
and are available on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises of three independent
non-executive directors, Chi Chi
Kenneth, Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew and Mr. Wong
Jonathan. The chairman is Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth,
who holds the appropriate professional qualifications as
required under Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

namely Mr. Hung
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The annual results of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2021 have been audited. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021
preparation of such statements complied with the

and is of the opinion that the
applicable accounting standards, the requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures had been
made.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to
be held on Monday, 9 August 2021 (the “2021
AGM"). For the purpose of determining shareholders’
entitlements to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, the
transfer books and the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 August 2021
to Monday, 9 August 2021 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to establish the right to attend and vote at the
2021 AGM, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Union
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North

Registrars Limited, Two

Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on Monday,
2 August 2021.
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AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited was the auditor of the
Company for the financial years ended 31 March
2017, 2018 and 2019. Following the resignation of
Elite Partners CPA Limited with effect on 13 January
2020, the Company had appointed RSM Hong Kong as
the auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 have
been audited by the Company’s independent auditor,
RSM Hong Kong, Certified Public Accountants, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
RSM Hong Kong as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
There has been no change of auditor of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

By Order of the Board
Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited

Chan Norman Enrique
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

38 M X BED R

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

UNION ASIA ENTERPRISE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with [limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages 116 to
199, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. The key audit matter we identified is
recognition of revenue from interior design and
execution services:

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Key Audit Matter
BEELEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNECNAEEERERSEH

Recognition of revenue from interior design and
execution services

BRARBEARTRATRBOBA

Refer to Notes 4(e), 4(n) 5b)i) and 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B2 E B EE N iEAle) ~ 4(n)  5O))RT °

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
interior design and execution services. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, apart from certain contracts in
which the Group bills a fixed amount for each period
of services provided (revenue recognised in the
amount to which the Group has a right to invoice),
revenue from interior design and execution services
amounting to approximately HK$51,647,000 was
recognised over time using an input method. If the
Group cannot reasonably measure the outcome of a
contract (for example, in the early stages) but expects
to recover the costs incurred in satisfying the
performance obligation, revenue is recognised to the
extent of costs incurred.
EEEFZNREREETARSRATRE - BE_ZT
——F=ZA=+—HLEEE KR BEEERREHERSE
HREKRETENE T (WAKR EEEAERY
BB SERR) I - REZAR RBITRE UK
A#)51,647,000% 7T 2 £ £ B & AL BE B A #E 3R -
it BEEBERESEAESONER (WRFHEER) -
METEEA T B BLERR B AV B (EFTE £ RIR A - Bl A
EEEKARRERYA -

Our procedures in relation to this matter included:

BBt EFROEF B

° Understanding management’s process in relation
to the estimation on total forecast costs and
assessing the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk
factors;

THREEERAMFATEAKANRE - Wik
ZRMAFTTIREREREMERRREZE - AT
hEARERERMEE B R

° Evaluating management'’s estimation of revenue
from interior design and execution services, on a
sample basis, by:

AT Z B I B H R B = AR RBITIRBS I
AR ARA

Examining interior design contracts for
agreed contract sum and any variations;
BRERCHEEHNCEREMEHNER

BEAK

Agreeing total forecast costs to approved
forecasts;

T R TR P AN = AR HE/ETROR -

Obtaining an understanding from the
Group’s key project team members about
the contract terms and the project status
of selected contracts to evaluate the
reasonableness of the basis of the
estimation of total forecast costs and the
contract costs incurred to date;

" EEBEETZBEBEBEKKE THEHK
HREEFESHMIBAAMREE - AFTAEHE
BEXKNAEENEEBERECSEEEN
BRI
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Key Audit Matter
BEELEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNECNAEEERERSEH

The recognition of revenue from interior design and
execution services involves significant management
judgement in estimating total forecast costs and in
determining at which point the outcome of a contract
can be measured reliably such that it is appropriate to
recognise profit.

REK B EANRF RATIRS @ RAR AT B TERIK

AREEEFEFEANERABRS R E M EZD RN
RBFEL - P M EKE T E I -

Comparing the historical actual gross profit
margin to those forecast to assess the
quality of management’s forecasting
process;
HEREEREMNEREZEEA -
EEERIRENES

VAR

Performing substantive testing on costs
incurred to date;

e S D EERRAETERIEA ;

Testing the accuracy of the calculation of
the progress of performance, revenue and
profit recognition for selected projects;
AACETHEANGEROEERE  KAR
S N T 58 ) ST

Discussing the project status with
management for explanations of
fluctuations in margins and changes in
forecast costs;
EEEN W
&%E/EJJEJZZISZ%

18 B AR DA R R ) R B

Corroborating management’s explanations
through the examination of agreements
and correspondence with customers;

BRREHENETFONBAMERIEE
B RO
— Taking into account of any significant

changes in circumstances and other
relevant conditions in relation to
management’s estimation of revenue from
interior design and execution services
between the reporting date and the date
of the auditor’s report; and
ERBEAHEREMBREANEERE
e 2R B EA R RAITRBHKAE H
B 1ES R E At AR B R R B (R E R E E) ¢
&

Reviewing the appropriateness of the
disclosure in the consolidated financial
statements.

BEEGAMBRRAMEERENS ML -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
T B

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
Other Information. The Other Information comprises all
of the information included in the annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the Other Information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether
the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB E

RBMRERGEMBERRAREZER

BMOERE  RHGEGVERREERSTHEEENK
FESREERME MM E NSRBI AERE  YHA
BRERMEROZEARE - KMAER BTERAE
B)BEHEMOER Btz AREE T BEE
A% - WA REZRBRETMEMBALTEETL
EERE o

BEREFRRKFHRE  BRBEBEEINETH
B TERBEX BABRRRAFERBEER -
#h AR PRI F] DA B AR FF Sk #E AR 5l B - MR IETBHBE R T
ERNERERARETESEMBRREABERELES
BATE MR PTE VR TE - AIA B SE SR RO FT R AR 1
EXK-

ERBEBREERE

TEZNBEREY  BFIERTE
XAE - REFTEERRE g

B o #PITT

o HRI MAHEARKFFRERMEB R A W HREK
TFREEARRRAAER - B - SRR R R
WITEZERF ERREREENERZEZE SR
PINE RIRHER - ARSI RER - B
#CERER ERRL - SORERAIES 2
£ F R BB ERGFMERMMEAFHRBR M
B L B B R BE B 3R R $E AR T 8 ROV B K 8RR PRt
MR &=
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
T B

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Yuk Fung Cora.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBREREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BP—FT _—F=H=+—HIFFE

Note 2021 2020

B 5 —E-—fF —E-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Revenue A 7 53,238 73,088

Cost of services Ak 7 B AN (25,891) (30,395)

Gross profit EX 27,347 42,693

Other income E bk A 8 3,600 361

Other losses HabEsia 9 (2) (915)

Listing expense EmRZ — (57,302)

Administrative expenses THRAX (19,730) (22,247)

Profit/(Loss) from operations BESHERN(BE) 11,215 (37,410)

Finance costs B 7% Al AR 11 (1,774) (2,040)

Profit/(Loss) before tax BREBADEF,(BER) 9,441 (39,450)

Income tax Fris®t 12 (1,228) (3,196)

Profit/(Loss) and total ERHEN(BE) R
comprehensive income for the 2EBREE

year 13 8,213 (42,646)
Earnings/(Loss) per share SRERN,(FHE) 17

Basic HAK HKO0.67 cents HK(4.55) cents

Al AL

Diluted e N/A 7EA N/A 73 B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBEMR IR
As at 31 March 2021
REF-——F=H=+—H

Note 2021 2020
B 5 —E-—F —EFTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER G 18 589 1,104
Right-of-use assets TREEE 19 4,406 4,741
Financial assets at fair value through  #Fi@EZFE A FE
profit or loss HE2emEE 20 8,321 16,454
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 28 41 6
13,357 22,305
Current assets RBEE
Contract cost assets EBHRAEE 21 122 —
Contract assets BREE 22 14,876 14,380
Trade and other receivables B 5 MHEH A EW A 23 10,233 18,086
Financial assets at fair value through  Fi@ERE A FE
profit or loss HECEREAE 20 8,131 —
Current tax assets BIEARIE & &= 2,763 1,080
Bank and cash balances R1T MR & 4 24 64,240 58,138
100,365 91,684
Current liabilities RBAEE
Contract liabilities EHEaE 22 5,118 4,752
Trade and other payables B 5 & E e RIE 25 4,280 4,042
Current tax liabilities BIEAIIE & & 123 4,019
Lease liabilities HEAaR 26 3,487 3,461
Bank loans RITER 27 45,113 49,934
58,121 66,208
Net current assets REBEEFE 42,244 25,476
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERREA G 55,601 47,781
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
eI R

As at 31 March 2021

R—F——F=H=+—H

Note 2021 2020
B 5 —EB-—fF —EFTF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHTT
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 964 1,340
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE 28 — 17
964 1,357
NET ASSETS EEFE 54,637 46,424
Capital and reserves EXR#HE
Share capital &N 29 122 122
Reserves i 30 54,515 46,302
TOTAL EQUITY B 54,637 46,424
Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2021 KEEFER-_ZT_—FNAZ+ZAERBERES
and are signed on its behalf by: F
Chan Norman Enrique Lee Alex Kam-fai
R 44 32 e
Director Director
EFE EFE

1 1 8 Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RAREE AL
Retained
profits/
Share Share Other (Accumulated Total
capital premium reserves losses) equity
REER/
B2 R RE HibfEE (RHER) BinaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FAT FAT TET
(Note 30(b)(i)) (Note 30(b)(ii))
(¥ 5£30(b)(i))  (HEE30(0)(i))
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-NEMA—A 273,216 — (272,997) 20,251 20,470
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FAZERHLE — — — (42,646) (42,646)
Capital Reorganisation RAEA (273,209) — — — (273,209)
Issue of Creditors Shares BITERARD 7 13,356 — — 13,363
Issue of Capitalisation Shares BITERERK 9 17,991 — — 18,000
Issue of shares under Share Offer REBERHBEERTRG 23 37,308 — — 37,331
Acquisition of a subsidiary U aaliil=UNG) 76 87,524 204,515 — 292,115
Dividends ¥ - - - (19,000) (19,000)
Changes in equity for the year FRERS (273,094) 156,179 204,515 (61,646) 25,954
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZFZTF=A=+—-HK
—TZZFNA-R 122 156,179 (68,482) (41,395) 46,424
Total comprehensive income and changes — FRNZEM AR RiEx%
in equity for the year — — — 8,213 8,213
At 31 March 2021 R-ZB--f=ZA=+-H 122 156,179 (68,482) (33,182) 54,637
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= =B
mERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETBHEENESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(Loss) before tax BB ADER,(EB) 9,441 (39,450)
Adjustments for: MATHEEELFAR
Interest income FEWA (1) (17)
Reversal of other payables H th &~ 5108 2 B B — (228)
Interest expenses A B 1,774 2,040
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair BRBmEANTETHE
value through profit or loss ZEBMEEZNTE
ER 2 521
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WFEKIEH
equipment s — (72)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BEREEZ
equipment e 717 1,248
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZINE 4,467 4,459
Impairment losses of property, plant and mE - BEREEZ
equipment BB EE = 439
Gain on lease modification BB ME — 7)
Contract assets written off BEMEENEE _— 5
Listing expense EmRx = 57,302
Operating profit before working capital EEEEHALE T
changes 16,400 26,240
(Increase)/Decrease in contract cost BHIKAEE (GEM),
assets > (122) 254
(Increase)/Decrease in contract assets BHEE G, 5 (496) 3,506
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other B 5 I H Ath fE Uk SR IE
receivables B (3Eh0) 7,853 (818)
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities AHAaEEMm Cad) 366 (2,844)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other B 5 & H Ath fE S /I8
payables O ) 238 (10,773)
Cash generated from operations KREEFNRSE 24,239 15,565
Income tax paid EERRIECT (6,859) (2,439)
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZHE (102) (198)
Net cash generated from operating KEFELENR©FE
activities 17,278 12,928
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EREMER
For the year ended 31 March 2021

BEr—FE-—F=HA=1—HIFFEF
2021 2020
—E=-—F —T_TF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FE T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHEENESRE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 UF B 1 17
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  BEREE

equipment (202) (366)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant — H &% - lﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁz

and equipment Fr{S #K2 = 80
Key management insurance policy payment z%%ﬂ%}\aﬁﬁﬁﬁ — (8,054)
Net cash used in investing activities KREFESMANE /58 (201) (8,323)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BETBHEENESRE

ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid BATRE B — (19,000)
Principal element of lease payments HEMZK 2K I M (4,482) (4,373)
Interest paid for bank loans RITERZ2EMAFE (1,683) (1,736)
Repayment to directors MEBEFEXR — (43)
Repayment to the holding company MER R RIE K = (1,584)
Proceeds from issue of shares under Share *ETF%T%?‘E%ﬁHQTﬁE@

Offer TS — 43,259
Proceeds from bank loans fﬁﬂgmﬁ’]ﬁﬂ%?ﬂ 6,000 36,000
Repayment of bank loans EBEIETER (10,810) (19,248)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEE (FTA)/EED

financing activities R /FH (10,975) 33,275
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBLESEWEM

EQUIVALENTS FHE 6,102 37,880
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE REHNZBEERESE

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR B 58,138 20,258
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RERZREREEE

END OF YEAR B 64,240 58,138
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH REeRARESEEBYDIN

EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITMIR G 4 64,240 58,138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ara MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B _—_—F=H=1—HIFZ
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the
Company is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of
business of the Company is at Flats A-G, 15/F, 15
Chong Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company together with its subsidiaries (as set
out in Note 32), hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Group”, is principally engaged in the
provision of interior design and execution
services.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
as at 31 March 2021, Whistle Up Limited
("Whistle Up”), a company incorporated in the
British  Virgin Islands, is the immediate and
ultimate holding company and Mr. Chan Norman
Enrique (“Mr. Norman Chan”) is the ultimate
controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021 are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except
when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). HKFRSs
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 provides information of
these developments which are relevant to the
Group’s operations. The application of these
developments did not have material impact on the
Group.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs

(a) Application of new and revised
HKFRSs

The Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2020 and are
relevant for the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of
HKAS 1 and Material
HKAS 8

The application of the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position
and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in
the consolidated financial statements.

2.

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

mEEE (5

BEGHMASERMRARENE AT 2t B
BREBKAIHERRANE T REER &
AU BHREER - HERTABAEEEEZ
AERER - RRAZSFENHAKEY EITMNE

=2 4
K& o

RAFATREEI TR BREER
(a) ERHIREBIBEBUBHREER

AEBEEREATIR S _EFHA—
H 3k 2 1 7 44 9 7 72 HA R 58 1 A Ak I B R 2
RREMBREBENT BV IEREELF
HIESERMSIMMNETARBEBGHA
CEMGHE BT BRELELZ TINEET

EE @D
ER e
SRR

(BRT )

BERNER

RN 2 18 A B 78 B 75 i 22 Rl R B AR
REVSIAER] R B EM B REER 2 EF]
HARERAFR R EFROMBMRR LR
BAR,/$GEMBREAERBLEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BP—FT _—F=H=+—HIFFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. BEAFEIRKLETEBYMEREER (&)
HKFRSs (continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) CHEMGERKREMNIHITREETES

not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 April 2020. These new and

§ot %5 3R 5 22 B

AEETAREBR-_Z-_ZFMA—BHK
B B IR B JE B AR A 18 1R R AR AR (E T B AT e
RIEFT BB IBME LR - ZEHAT ML E
FRIEBMBHEER IR L R A K E AR

revised HKFRSs include the following which AR &IE ©
may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT5 B 2 &R
SETAMER
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 — Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
ERMBREERFE165E (BFTAR) 20198 KmESR — HEAESH R —E-_TFRA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 1 January 2021
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
EEMBREERNFENR - BEGFERE39% - EENBIME LR —E-—%—H—H
E75  BAEMBREENEZSENEBUBERELERFE 1658 (BETA)
MEELERE — F2RER
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
FEMBREERNEIF (EFTA) B IER 5t —E-"%—HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before intended Use 1 January 2022
ER G ERFE 165 BRI A) BE BB MSHKIE —ET-—F—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a 1 January 2022
Contract
FEEGHERNEI7TR (BTN BEAK — BITEHZKAK —ET-=-F—H—8
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
TE-NFEZ-_TFRAMBFBVBHRE LD N FEBCE —ET-—Ff—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
ER G ERE 15 (BRI A) S5t BUR KR —E-=%—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1 January 2023
Current
EEGHENE 1R UEFTA) BBENRD IR DA —E_=%—H—H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2023

— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
EEREFESH (CT_TF) MBHKREN — ERAHSARERER —E-_=%—HA—H
BFROTHERN DR

B

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
FR G ERESH (BFTA) et ATV ES —E-=F%—H—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HKFRSs (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
unless mentioned otherwise in the accounting
policies below (e.g. financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"”) that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgements
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
include the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over
which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and
unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Foreign currency translation

()

(i)

Functional and presentation
currency

[tems included in the financial
statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’'s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each
entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the
end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign
currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the
fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, held for use
in supply of services or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to
write off their costs less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates
are as follows:

Leasehold Over the unexpired
improvements period of lease term

Furniture and 20%
fixtures

Office equipment 20% to 33%

Motor vehicles 30%

The residual values, useful lives and

depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

Leases — as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group
assesses whether the contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date (except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets).
Payments associated with short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using the
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After
initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using effective interest
method.

When the lease is capitalised, the
right-of-use asset is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

Leases — as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of
the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
("lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case the lease liability is remeasured based
on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

4,

TEEHERER#E)

(d)

HE — EREBRAE)

H N5 B S 12 M REE A) O B A SRS ERIS AR
MEEEEMAERNEREEE  NHEKA
HZRERFHRAERIERTE - B8 &
REEERERANE G A £ AF 2 8HE
HimeEEEHRINE -

RENENESRENIEAFEFE -
BT ERF A FENAERRERINEE
MR EH AR BEEERNKA -

EREMNEAREREAEETETEE
B EEmRIEEEMSIBESE  HE
M EHERE EHERBNML T AEMH
FHER - Y EMAREEENREEFRL AR
HE EEAREENEEESRIEST
At ABs=EA -

EHESRR AR HEER NP RELE
REMEEREZEZ ((HAEBHR]) - B
AMESEBNEEARE - AIT2HHEES
EETENE -AERBERT HERER
BRETHEENFMEERR - £HALE
AR R AN ERAEHTE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Interior design contracts

The Group provides interior design and
execution services. For certain service
contracts in which the Group bills a fixed
amount that corresponds directly with the
value to the customers of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group
recognises revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice. Apart from
the aforesaid service contracts, revenue from
a fixed-price contract is recognised over time
based on the contract costs incurred to date
as a percentage of total forecast costs to
depict the transfer of control of services to
the customer. The Group recognises revenue
over time only if it can reasonably measure
its progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation. If the Group
cannot reasonably measure the outcome
(for example, in the early stages of a
contract) but expects to recover the costs
incurred in satisfying the performance
obligation, then it recognised revenue to the
extent of the costs incurred.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied
over time, the Group recognised revenue
from interior design and execution services
at a point in time.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of
progress towards completion are revised if
circumstances change. Any resulting
increases or decreases in estimated revenues
or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the
period in which the circumstances that give
rise to the revision become known by
management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Interior design contracts (continued)

If the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract
with a customer are not within the scope of
another HKFRS or HKAS, the Group
recognises contract cost assets from the
costs incurred to fulfil an anticipated
contract only if the costs relate directly to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify; the costs generate or
enhance resources of the Group that will be
used in satisfying performance obligations in
the future; and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Contract cost assets include
direct labour, subcontracting charges and
other direct costs.

Subsequent to capitalisation, contract cost
assets that relate to services that will
transfer to the customer at the contract
establishment date are expensed
immediately. If the performance obligations
are satisfied over time, revenue s
recognised on a cumulative catch-up basis at
the contract establishment date reflecting
the performance obligations that are
partially or fully satisfied at that time.

The Group shall recognise an impairment
loss in profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of a contract cost asset
exceeds the remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to
receive in exchange for the services to
which the contract cost asset relates; less
the costs that relate directly to providing
those services and that have not been
recognised as expenses.

When cumulative revenue from an interior
design contract exceeds progress billings, a
contract asset is recognised. When progress
billings exceed cumulative revenue from an
interior design contract, a contract liability is
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

()

Interior design contracts (continued)

Contract assets represent the Group's right
to consideration in exchange for services
that the Group has transferred to customers
when that right is conditional on something
other than the passage of time. Any
unconditional rights to consideration other
than the passage of time are presented
separately as trade receivables.

Contract liabilities are the Group’s
obligations to transfer services to customers
for which the Group has received
consideration from the customers.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group entity
becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)

(9)

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’'s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets
are measured subsequently in their entirety
at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the
financial assets.

Debt investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

(i) amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income
(recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss. The
Group’s key management insurance
policies are classified in this category.

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h)

()

(k)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group
has an unconditional right to receive
consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less
allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

(m)

(n)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidence a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the
customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Revenue from interior design and execution
services is recognised in accordance with the
policies set out in Note 4(e) above.

Revenue from colour-rendering or handling
services is recognised when the related
services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a
time-proportion basis using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o) Employee benefits

(@

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave
as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a mandatory
provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (the “Ordinance”) which is
a defined contribution plan for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The Group's contributions to the MPF
Scheme are calculated at 5% of the
employees’ salaries subject to a
monthly maximum amount specified in
the Ordinance per employee and vest
fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund.

The retirement benefit contributions
charged to profit or loss represent
contributions payable by the Group to
the MPF Scheme.

Long service payments

In Hong Kong, employees who have
completed a required number of years
of service to the Group are eligible for
long service payments under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in the
event of the termination of their
employment, provided that such
terminations meet the circumstances
specified in the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (continued)
(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at
the earlier of the dates when the
Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are
deferred and recognised in profit or loss
over the period to match them with the
costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(r) Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the

current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for
indications of impairment and where an
asset is impaired, it is written down as an
expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. If this is
the case, recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less
costs of disposal of the individual asset or
the cash-generating unit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

(t)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

Value in use is the present value of the
estimated future cash flows of the asset/
cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating
unit whose impairment is being measured.

Subsequent increases in the recoverable
amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that
they reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its financial assets measured at
amortised cost and contract assets. The
impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

Expected credit loss is a function of the
exposure at default, the probability of
default and loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default).
As for the exposure at default for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount as at the reporting
date. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking
estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets,
the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the assets. The
expected credit losses on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors based on
the Group’s internal credit rating, historical
observed default rates, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions as at the reporting
date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

Impairment on other receivables are
measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

4,

TEEHERER#E)

(t)

THEERSNEERESE)

IESBEFBERENEEMNS  AKEE
REEF B REERNFEIRM A FFH TS
A HBERAVREREEREERESE
HIEE ZEEENRREEERIDERAK
SENANBEENN  BELBEREOZHE
BAETERFE  EREFAFEHEE
EREEIUA R BN E B #AOR A B A
RIERAIF R (BESEREEE - ER) K
AHAEL SR

Hip e RIBZRETR12EAFRREERS
BR2MBEHEERRFE  BFavIRE
REEERBRETEZEINME B8V
FER AR YRR 2 (E B E B 12 A - B
BEESZHEMEEERE -



¥ il s

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets (continued)

The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

— internal credit rating or external credit
rating (if available);

— actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
counterparty’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes
in the operating results of the
counterparty;

— significant changes in the expected
behaviour of the counterparty,
including changes in the payment
status; and

— an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the counterparty that
results in a significant decrease in the
counterparty’s ability to meet its
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Notwithstanding the above, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial asset is
determined to have low credit risk as at the
reporting date. A financial asset is
determined to have low credit risk if the
financial asset has a low risk of default, the
counterparty has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the
short term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the counterparty to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a financial asset to
have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment

grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
The Group regularly monitors the

effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets (continued)

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or
obtained from external sources
indicates that the counterparty is
unlikely to pay the Group, in full
(without considering any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset s
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event; or

— it is becoming probable that the
counterparty will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial assets
at amortised cost and contract assets with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amounts through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. the
counterparty has been placed under

liquidation or has been entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to

enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that
provide additional information about the
Group's position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and
are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting
policies, management has made the
following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Methods for measuring progress
towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

As detailed in Notes 4(e) and 4(n) above,
revenue from interior design and execution
services is recognised over time based on
the contract costs incurred to date as a
percentage of total forecast costs to depict
the transfer of control of services to
customers. In determining the appropriate
method for measuring progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation, the Group considered the nature
of interior design and execution services
that the Group promised to transfer to its
customers and selected the method of
measuring progress that best depicts the
transfer of products or services to its
customers. In the absence of surveys of
performance completed to date or
appraisals of results achieved, output
methods would not faithfully depict the
Group’s performance in satisfying a
performance obligation when the Group has
performed work in progress or finished
goods controlled by customers that are not
included in the measurement of the output.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation
uncertainty

The Group has considered the impact
arising from COVID-19 when preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
Assumptions and estimates are based on
circumstances and conditions available when
the consolidated financial statements were
prepared and, in particular, the Group has
assessed that the current market condition
as a result of COVID-19 is not a long-term
norm. Given the severity, duration and
economic consequences of COVID-19 are
uncertain, actual impact may differ
significantly from the Group’s estimates. The
Group will remain alert and cautious on the
ongoing development of COVID-19 that may
cause further volatility and uncertainty in the
global financial market, economy and
business environment, and will take
necessary measures to address the impact
arising therefrom.

The key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)

()

Revenue and profit recognition

Apart from certain service contracts in
which the Group bills a fixed amount
for each duration of services provided
(revenue recognised in the amount to
which the Group has a right to
invoice), revenue and profit
recognition on the provision of interior
design and execution services are
dependent on the estimation of the
progress of the satisfaction of
performance obligation of interior
design contracts over time. Based on
the Group’s past experience and the
nature of the contract activities
undertaken by the Group, the Group
makes estimates of the point at which
it considers the work is sufficiently
advanced such that the costs to
complete and the revenue can be
reliably estimated. Actual outcome in
terms of total forecast costs may be
higher or lower than those estimated
at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years.
During the year, approximately
HK$51,647,000 (2020:
HK$70,313,000) of revenue from
interior design contracts was
recognised over time based on the
abovementioned input method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Br—F—

e =

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes
mainly in Hong Kong. Significant
estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations
for which the wultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is
made. During the year, approximately
HK$1,228,000 (2020: HK$3,196,000)
of income tax was charged to profit
or loss based on the estimated profit
from operations.

Fair value of investments

In the absence of quoted market
prices in an active market, the
directors appointed an independent
professional valuer to measure the fair
value of the Group’s key management
insurance policies, details of which are
set out in Notes 6(d) and 20. In
determining the fair value, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation
which involves estimates. The directors
have exercised their judgements and
are satisfied that the method of
valuation and inputs used are
reflective of current market
conditions. The carrying amount of the
key management insurance policies as
at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$16,452,000 (2020:
HK$16,454,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B RS ER R P

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BEr—FE-_—F=[=+—HIFFEF

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. BERAUAEREIEMGE (&)
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation
uncertainty (continued)

(b) fEETFAMERNEZERFE)

(iv) RERBEBR

(iv) Impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts

AEBERBEAELRBHEEBRZ

The Group estimates the amount of

loss allowance for expected credit
losses on items subject to expected
credit losses (such as trade receivables
and contract assets) based on the
credit risk of the respective items. The
loss allowance amount is measured as
the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows after
taking into consideration of expected
future credit loss of the item. The
assessment of the credit risk of the
items subject to expected credit losses

HE (MEZRYFERANEE) Z
EFERRGAZFHERHAEERSR
ZERBESR BREBEBSEIR
BERAELEAFTRKASREZR
BzEZRE8 WO KkZBEEZE
HAREEER ARRLREHEE
EiEZBAR ZEERARFESREE
et R THARRE - EERAKRS
MEAHNERER - AR H L E
A BRRE R B 3 E AR B & 18 &
BeR-_T-_—F=A=+—H" K
SEYEMRELD S EUGRARANE
EREREIRRME -

involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are different from
expected, a material impairment loss
or a material reversal of impairment
loss may arise, accordingly. As at
31 March 2021, the Group has not
recognised loss allowance for its trade
receivables and contract assets.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. &@IH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) €T EEHR
2021 2020
—E-—— —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Financial assets: EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEEN AT EZ
TREE 73,615 75,436
Financial assets at FVTPL BBBHEATE
FECemEE 16,452 16,454
Financial liabilities: EHMEE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1RSSR AET & 2
TRBE 48,352 52,972
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2—F—

—F=H=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety
of financial risks: foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group is mainly exposed to the
foreign exchange risk of United States
dollars (“US$"”), Renminbi (“RMB"),
Japanese yen (“JPY”) and New Taiwan
dollars (“NT$”). Under the pegged
exchange rate system, the financial
impact on exchange difference
between HK$ and US$ will be
immaterial as all US$ denominated
monetary assets and liabilities are held
by group entities having HK$ as their
functional currency, and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
For RMB, JPY and NT$, no sensitivity
analysis has been prepared as the
amounts involved are insignificant. The
Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily
attributable to its key management
insurance policies, trade and other
receivables, contract assets and bank
balances.

The Group’s credit risk on key
management insurance policies held is
limited since the counterparty is a
top-tier financial service provider with
good reputation.

In respect of trade receivables and
contract assets, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all
customers. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s reputation and past
history of making payments.
Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, management
reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt and
contract asset regularly to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts. In
this regard, the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For other receivables, management
makes periodic individual and
collective assessments on the
recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records
and past experience. Management
considers that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balances of other
receivables.

The credit risk on bank balances is
limited since the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE—F——

F=HA=+—HIFFEF

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer,
therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. As at 31 March
2021, the Group had concentration of
credit risk on trade receivables as
59% (2020: 69%) of its trade
receivables were due from three
(2020: three) customers which
contributed over 10% of the Group's
trade receivables. As at 31 March
2021, the Group had concentration of
credit risk on contract assets as 41%
(2020: 26%) of its contract assets
were due from two (2020: two)
customers which individually
contributed over 10% of the Group's
contract assets. Management is of the
view that these customers are certain
reputable companies with high
credit-ratings in the market, hence,
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

The Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of expected
lifetime loss to be recognised from
initial recognition of trade receivables
and contract assets.

Impairment on other receivables are
measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in
credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management (continued)
(ii) Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, management
assessed the expected loss on trade
receivables and contract assets
individually. Based on past experience
of the Group, these trade receivables
and contract assets are generally
recoverable due to the credit ratings,
long term/on-going relationship and
good repayment record of the
customers. As at 31 March 2021, the
expected credit loss rates for trade
receivables and contract assets are
assessed to be 0.03% and 0.49%
(2020: 0.05% and 0.56%),
respectively. The loss allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets
was insignificant. In addition,
management is of the opinion that no
event of default occurred for trade
receivables aged over 90 days and the
balances are still considered fully
recoverable due to the credit ratings,
long-term/on-going relationship and
good repayment record from these
customers.

As at 31 March 2021, the internal
credit ratings of other receivables
were performing. The Group has
assessed that the expected credit
losses for these receivables are not
significant under the 12-month
expected loss method. Hence, no loss
allowance was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management (continued)

6.

TMTH

(#)

(b) EREREE &)

(iii) Liquidity risk (i) REBELREK
The Group’s policy is to regularly RNEB R BEZTFE AR KB
monitor current and expected liquidity MBESHT R UBEREFZHRS
requirements to ensure that it HE O METEEHARBRRBACRDE
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to EHERK o
meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.
The maturity analysis based on ERNAEBIETESRBES LR
contractual undiscounted cash flows RS REMHBHEI>TOT -
of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities is as follows:
On demand Total
or less than Between one Between two undiscounted
one year to two years to five years cash flow
RERY AERES
—FR —ZmE MEEF REAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET AT AT
At 31 March 2021 R-ZB=-§=ZA=+-H
Trade and other payables ~ Z5 R H i ERFE 3,239 = = 3,239
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,540 409 590 4,539
Bank loans RITER 45,113 = = 45,113
51,892 409 590 52,891
At 31 March 2020 WZZ-ZE£=A=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E B ZE 3,038 — — 3,038
Lease liabilities MERRE 3,540 409 998 4,947
Bank loans RITER 49,934 - — 49,934
56,512 409 998 57,919

Specifically, for bank loans contain a
repayment on demand clause which
can be exercised at the banks’ sole
discretion, the aforesaid analysis
explains the cash outflows based on
the earliest period in which the Group
can be required to pay, that is if the
lenders were to invoke the
unconditional rights to call the loans
with immediate effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

6.

TRIA

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

(#)

(b) EREREE &)

Liquidity risk (continued) (i) RBELAR(Z)
The table below summaries the TEREMERBERBREFNASE
Group’s remaining contractual EemBENRTEOIHA
maturity for its financial liabilities
based on agreed schedule
repayments:
On demand Total
or less than Between one Between two undiscounted
one year to two years to five years cash flow
RERY AERES
—FR —ZmE MELF REAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET AT AT
At 31 March 2021 R-B--§=ZA=+-H
Trade and other payables ~ Z5 R H i ERFE 3,239 = = 3,239
Lease liabilities HEBRE 3,540 409 590 4,539
Bank loans RITER 35,614 5,534 5,003 46,151
42,393 5,943 5,593 53,929
At 31 March 2020 WZZ-ZE=A=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E B 2B 3,038 — — 3,038
Lease liabilities HEGE 3,540 409 998 4,947
Bank loans BITER 35,618 5,534 10,537 51,689
42,196 5,943 11,535 59,674
Interest rate risk (iv) FIE@EE

The Group's exposure to interest rate
risk arises primarily from its bank
loans. Bank loans obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2021, if interest rates
had been 50 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit after tax would
have been approximately HK$188,000
lower/higher (2020: loss after tax
would have been approximately
HK$208,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its floating rate bank
loans.

AEENHNERARTIERBEHRTE
R REFPMNEESHRITERS
SEHERASRENXRER

RZZE-—F=ZA=+—H  HF=X
EATBRSOMEES, - META H b &
BB E  AEENBRTELETE
B AN#9188,0008 T (T - F
FBBREBBEBEMN RS LH
208,000 L) " L HEEEANAEASE
BB EFERTEREBAOTRRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the financial assets
and financial liabilities as shown in Note
6(a) above approximate their respective fair
values.

Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement
date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy
that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access
at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted
prices included within level
1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
into and transfers out of any of the three
levels as of the date of the event or change
in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B RS ER R P

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B oE = A= —HIFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EWMIHEE)
(d) Fair value measurements (continued) (d 2QDFEFEE)
(i) Disclosures of level in fair value i) R=B-—F=A=Z+—-HWAFE
hierarchy as at 31 March 2021: fEREE

Fair value measurement
using level 3
FRAE=ZRNAFETE

Description =il 2021 2020
—E-—% TE-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Recurring fair value REMEAFETE:
measurements:
Financial assets at FVTPL FRBmEQTE
ECEeRMEE
Key management FEEBABRE
insurance policies 16,452 16,454
(ii) Reconciliation of assets measured (i) ERF=ZFRAFEFEZEEHER:
at fair value based on level 3:
Financial assets at FVTPL
ERERERATENEZEREE
Description BR 2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFTF
HK$’000 HK$000
FE T T
At the beginning of year REA 16,454 8,921
Purchases EE = 8,054
Total losses recognised in RIBEER 2
profit or loss (#) BB #H) (2) (521)
At the end of year RE R 16,452 16,454
(#) Include losses for assets # BRERBREHRK
held at end of reporting FIsEEEZ
period &8 (2) (521)

Total losses recognised in profit or loss
are presented in the line item “Other
losses” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

RERERZEBRERNGEEAER
HttzmpamRAlHibEEIETE
5If e

BT EERARZD 202021 F F R
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Fair value measurements (continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process

used by the Group and valuation
techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements as at

31 March 2021:

The Group’s financial controller is
responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting
purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial controller
reports directly to the directors for
these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial
controller and the directors at each
reporting date.

For level 3 fair value measurements,
the Group normally engages external
valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Level 3 fair value measurements:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021
—FE=Z[A=+—HIFEF

TRIA#)
(d) 2FEEE

Gii) 50 05 7 0 5 P 22 £ LR DA R A
—®-—£=A=+-AATEIE
PR 2 (E B E R AR

AEE 2

MERARMYBHREEL

TR ZEERBBZAFEE (B
REZRRNFEANE) MBREER

[ & = )

> faras
E%E

NFEFE - M54

ENEERNERSAHIwREERRF
K&

I —

mE=

SAFEHETE - A%E—

RIEFZEERAZEXER RO HER
MINEMEEEZETHE -

F=RAFETE:

Fair value
A
Effect on
fair value
Valuation Unobservable for increase
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2021 2020
BAERE
TABEHA mEATLE
Lfid EERE R gE e “E--F ZEZCEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Key Discounted cash  Discount rate 0.03% to 0.68%  Decrease 16,452 16,454
management  flow model BB XK 0.03%%068%  HD
insurance HREERE (2020: 2.41%)
policies kil (Z2Z%F:
FTEERAR 2.41%)
RE Interest rate 2.90% 10 5.00% Increase
RS 290%%5.00% &
(2020: 2.99%
to 5.00%)
(Z2=%%:
2.99%%
5.00%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
E_E - —F A= —HAIFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. LWMIHE®
(d) Fair value measurements (continued) (d) AFEFEE)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process (i) WEAEERMERAZAERFURR
used by the Group and valuation —E-_-—-F=ZA=+—HAYEHE
techniques and inputs used in fair Az EERERAAER (&)
value measurements as at
31 March 2021: (continued)

The fair value of key management FEEBABRENATFEEAE
insurance policies is determined using RBEeRERVNET -REREHR
the discounted cash flow model. The REEHRAERHERBREBERRE
duration of the cash flows and the WG ET - EHRERENEE
specific timing of inflows and EEEEGHNNFEARRREA(WWE)
outflows are determined in % -ILEREBELE LA ERAM
accordance with the terms of o GHEAN— R EEHFRAH
insurance contracts. The periodic cash 1BHETTREIR -
flow is estimated as gross redemption
value and interest income, taking into
consideration the pattern of
crystallising the contracts and
surrender charges, if any. The series
of periodic net income for the
contracting period is then discounted.
REVENUE 7. WA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is REBRERABABDTLT
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
Interior design and execution services ENRA RAITR 52,527 71,953
Colour-rendering services &1 8] AR 7% 554 503
Handling services B IR AR %% 157 632
53,238 73,088

Handling services income represents income from
the procurement of furniture or art pieces and
other decorative items for customers which is
recognised at a point in time.

BERBKRAERE REFRBRELEMNR K
H A E e U - R — B B RERR
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el

A

"

161

P F



N "
e
: NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE—T_—F=-A=1—HIFE

7. REVENUE (continued) 7. WA#E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts EFEXHWABA
with customers
In the following tables, revenue is disaggregated ETRE&RA - HOA TR M I8 & 45 2 U A B 2R /Y B
by geographical regions and timing of revenue FEARm AL o
recognition.
Interior
design and
execution
services Other Total
ERRFTR
TR Hits st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TRT FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 ®HE-Z=-—%
=A=+—H
LHEE
Geographical regions B EE
Hong Kong BB 48,218 711 48,929
Japan H 7 927 = 927
Macau P 300 = 300
Mainland China o B KB 2,672 — 2,672
Philippines JFREE 410 — 410
52,527 711 53,238
Timing of revenue W 7 2R B
recognition
Over time B B 52,527 — 52,527
At a point in time S — I R B = 711 711
52,527 711 53,238

1 62 Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21



7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
E_E - —F A= —HAIFFE

REVENUE (continued) 7. WA#E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts EFEHNWABRME)
with customers (continued)
Interior
design and
execution
services Other Total
ERNRT R
HMITIRTE Hh st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Year ended 31 March 2020 BHEZE_-Z_-ZfF
=H=+—H
LHFEE
Geographical regions ih &
Hong Kong &5 66,568 1,135 67,703
Japan =[N 874 — 874
Macau B P 804 — 804
Mainland China B K P 2,720 — 2,720
Philippines JFEE 586 — 586
Sri Lanka Hr 82/~ 65 — 65
Thailand & 336 — 336
71,953 1,135 73,088
Timing of revenue WA RN B
recognition
Over time & A 71,903 — 71,903
At a point in time RE— B 50 1,135 1,185
71,953 1,135 73,088

BETEEZERERAQ T 202021 F F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o

For the year ended 31 March 2021
AP—F_—F=-A=-1—HIFE

=

REVENUE (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations

The following table includes revenue from interior
design and execution services expected to be
recognised in the future relating to performance

L ONEY
TEERFNENEENXRZER

TRV B —F=ZA=+—HERTHK (X
#R RTER) M A B LR B RIS AR HER
M E N RATT IR -

obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2021:

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within one year —FR 48,348 53,595
More than one year BiB—F 60,167 54,681
108,515 108,276

The Group applies the practical expedient in
paragraph 121(a) of the HKFRS 15 and does not
disclose the information about remaining
performance obligations that have original
expected durations of one year or less.

The Group applies the practical expedient in
paragraph 63 of the HKFRS 15 and does not
adjust the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of a significant financing component if
the Group expects, at contract inception, that the
period between when the Group transfers a
promised service to a customer and when the
customer pays for that service will be one year or
less.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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8.

9.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B RS ER R P

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

Scheme in respect of the COVID-19 pandemic
were received to provide financial support to the

OTHER INCOME 8. HMWKA

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Government grants (Note) BT 4R B (B &E) 3,567 —
Interest income on bank deposits RITEFEFBUA 1 17
Reversal of other payables b JE S IR 2 Y] — 228
Sundry income MBI 32 116
3,600 361

Note: Government grants for the Employment Support B 5E < 82201978 A % 57 B BA 00 4R Bt 2E 51 81 &9 48 B BT

WL RRAEEEHP B EmMEME  ARE
Hig8 - BRI B) A B AR ZR R AT

Group to retain its employees. There was no
unfulfilled condition attached to the receipts of

the subsidies.

OTHER LOSSES 9. HEE
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TE_TF
HK$'000 HK$’000
THET T T
Exchange loss i 5 E1E — (29)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FWEREATE
FVTPL ATEZERMEEY
NEEEE (2) (521)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BER
equipment FENF — 72
Impairment losses on property, plant and ~ #1% « iR M&E 2
equipment VEREVE=! — (439)
Gain on lease modification HMEEF S — 7
Contract assets written off BEMEENEE — (5)
(2) (915)

BETEEZERERAQ T 202021 F F R

el

P F

=

A

165



~

7

166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2HEHR
The Group's operating activities are attributable to REBNKEEDEBENETENRT RMITR
a single operating segment focusing on interior B E —REDE - LD AN E GRREF
design and execution services. This operating EEBNBHREENNGTHBERER) ERDHBE
segment has been identified on the basis of £ HIBLERARE([TEEEREE]) AR
internal reports, prepared in accordance with NEIES) THEN TELERKEREARTE
accounting policies which conform with HKFRSs, BOB - MEFELERRERENENEES M
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating BHREPMEEEMER - At WEZ3|AT2HH
decision maker (the “CODM"), the directors of EBEF} o
the Company. The CODM is responsible for
making decision about resources allocation. The
information provided to the CODM is the same as
those disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, no reportable segment
information is presented.
Geographical information: wIBE R
Information about the Group’s revenue from REBEREBINSELPWMANER HEREBEMNE
external customers is presented based on the E
location of the projects:
2021 2020
—B-—F —F-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Hong Kong A 48,929 67,703
Japan H 7 927 874
Macau P 300 804
Mainland China B K P 2,672 2,720
Philippines JFEE 410 586
Sri Lanka HEFE-FR = 65
Thailand RH — 336
53,238 73,088

All the Group’s non-current assets are located in

Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers:

Revenue from transactions with external
customers amounting to 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue are as follows:

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BEr—FE-_—F=[=+—HIFFEF

10. DEER (#)

TEFEFEHR:

(5 EE U A0% 5k b b 2 SMERE S 3 5 2 A
mF :

2021 2020

—E-—F ZEZEF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHE T T

Customer a EPa 11,016 24,290
Customer b =2Fb 9,886 9,497

Revenue was derived from services provided to
the above respective customers including services
provided to a group of entities which are known
to be under common control with the above

WAKBR L EREFPRENRYE  SFEREHA
RBFREAZREFR—EFN—AEE -

respective customers.

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BERA
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGENE 102 198
Interest on bank loans IRITERF L 1,672 1,842
1,774 2,040

BT EERARZD 202021 F F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

12.

INCOME TAX 12. FRBH
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss FrisBie M BEmmERE N :
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Current tax BVER 7 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax EENER 1,275 3,310
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") PRI ZEFTE T
(TEEmEHR ) 5 11
1,280 3,321
Deferred tax (Note 28) EIEFRTE (M 5E28) (52) (125)
1,228 3,196

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits of qualifying corporations is
lowered to 8.25%, and profits above that amount
is still subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.
Assessable profits of the Group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime are continued to be taxed at the rate of
16.5%.

PRC CIT has been provided at a rate of 25%.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PA SRR M =

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE T _—F=-H=+—HIFFE

K= A

W

INCOME TAX (continued) 12. FiB® @)
The reconciliation between the income tax and TSR EABR T RTR A (B18) FRUABFBF S RE
the product of profit/(loss) before tax multiplied RZBEREERNT
by Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T T
Profit/(Loss) before tax B ADE R, (B5E) 9,441 (39,450)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of NEBENEHRE
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) 16 5%qu { B IR
ZEEF
16.5%) 1,558 (6,509)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERBMUWA BT
- (595) 41)
Tax effect of expenses that are not ASAT A 5 > ) B 7S
deductible - 450 9,946
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REERIA BB
ﬁ%‘i{/ - 2
Effect of different tax rate TRAMENTE (165) (165)
Effect of using average tax rate for MIEER IE (R A T
deferred tax MERZE 5 12
Tax concession MsER (30) (60)
PRC CIT B EMEH 5 11
Income tax PR 1,228 3,196

BETEEZERERAQ T 202021 F F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Br—F _—_—F=H=+—HIFEZF
13. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 13. FRERN(FHE)

The Group's profit/(loss) for the year is stated

AEBOFREN,(B8) TR MR T 55 EEZ

after charging the following: HIBR
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration % BRAD N
— Audit — &Es 1,500 1,500
— Non-audit — JFES 415 810
Contract cost assets recognised as REHNKEEE
expenses R AR — 254
Subcontracting charges (Note) DEER (M) 5,297 5,149
Depreciation of property, plant and I E =N P
equipment e 717 1,248
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEECINE 4,467 4,459
Rental expenses relating to short-term HEHEERE
leases HEMX — 453

Me FR BENEBITCERIEENKRAEED
DEREBEBRNA32,00E8L(ZTE_TF :F) -

Note: During the year, subcontracting charges to fulfil
contracts capitalised as contract cost assets
amounted to approximately HK$32,000 (2020:
nil).

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 14. EERABEX

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T
Employee benefit expenses: EERMMAX :
Salaries and allowances e KOERL 27,351 32,520
Other benefits (represent rent paid) HiEF

(FEENES) 490 232

Retirement benefit scheme RORAEFIET &I 50
contributions 1,009 1,199
28,850 33,951

FAREBOBBALICDERNEESORNNEEN
EERBNFXAR90,000BTT(ZE_FF &) -

During the year, employee benefit expenses to
fulfil contracts capitalised as contract cost assets
amounted to approximately HK$90,000 (2020:
nil).

Retirement benefit scheme contributions totalling RZZBZ—F=A=+—HB ENTEESHEINK
approximately HK$161,000 (2020: HK$186,000) BRI EERRTES HELHA161,0008 L (2=
were payable to the fund as at 31 March 2021. T4 1 186,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B RS ER R P

For the year ended 31 March 2021

E_E - —F A= —HAIFFE

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 14. EERAMX (&)
(continued)
Five highest paid individuals TAEESFHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group AEERFANEERSFMALHIEEREE
during the year included two directors whose FOHREZEARLRAREEHENME KR
emoluments during their appointment as a BIsE15@)T2FM DT - FN - AEBRE TS
director of the Company are reflected in the FMATHENEFIEETI O

analysis presented in Note 15(a). Details of the
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
during the year are set out below:

2021 2020
=F=—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET F7B7T
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R RER 4,867 5,023
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKEFFH I 87 90
4,954 5113*
* The above amount includes the emoluments of * rilcEREMEEET ME B RSESZT
the two directors, both as to their directors’ DRZEEME RN BBAZAREREEZMS -
emoluments since their appointment and their
emoluments as employees prior to such
appointment.
The emoluments of the five highest paid hEESFTMA TSGR A TER :

individuals fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—E=-—fF —_E_FTF
Emolument bands (in HK$) Bl < & (& T)
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T E
1,500,000% 7T 2 2
5 5
No incentive payment for joining the Group or FRBEENREMEREEZRSEHMA LN
compensation for loss of office was paid or AR EE )RR R B E -

payable to any of the five highest paid individuals
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BP—FT _—F=H=+—HIFFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 15. EEFEIRAZF
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME

ENFEER(THEARAFARANEA R
15 RMBEMZBMEMT

The emoluments paid to or receivable by
each of the directors whether of the
Company or its subsidiaries undertaking are

as follows:
Employer's
Estimated contribution
money value toa
of other retirement
Salaries and benefits benefit
Fees allowances (Note (i) scheme Total
HBAN EEaRA
A ENEE BRI
BE HEeREH (BH=E () FrE#R wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TET THET TR
Year ended 31 March 2021 HZ-F=-—-%
ZRAZ+-HLEFE
Executive directors Hi1E=Z
— Mr. Norman Chan — BEAE = 1,302 = 18 1,320
— Mr. Lee Alex Kam-fai — FEELE = 888 348 18 1,254
Independent non-executive BukanEs
directors
— Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew  — BBFM%4E 60 = = = 60
— Mr. Wong Jonathan — BRBRE 60 = = = 60
— Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth ~— Z&iEE4E 100 = = = 100
220 2,190 348 36 2,794

RALENMRARNRAITHARE

Mr. Norman Chan is also the chief executive
of the Company.

REBEE_ZE-_—FR-_FE-_ZF=—A=1+—
BILFE  METMESREXREMET
AENE 2 ZHE -

There was no arrangement under which a
director waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

15. EER/ANRAME &)

(a) E=M= (&)

Employer's
Estimated  contribution
money value to a
of other  retirement
Salaries and benefits benefit
Fees  allowances (Note (i) scheme Total

EmAe  EEARE

[EEEHEE  BHEHE
e FehEH (=M AR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THAT TET TET

Year ended 31 March 2020 HZ-_E-ZE£=A=+-H

LEE
Executive directors Hi1E=
— Mr. Norman Chan —BEAE — 499 — 7 506
— Mr. Lee Alex Kam-fai — FRELE — 474 12 7 493
Independent non-executive BUFHNTES
directors
— Mr. Kwong U Hoi Andrew  — BB %4 23 — — — 23
— Mr. Wong Jonathan — BABLE 23 — — — 23
— Mr. Chi Chi Hung Kenneth — — ZEHELE4 38 — — — 38
84 973 12 14 1,083

RZE—NF+—A+=0  ARRERBE
%0197 T 2 (B #8217 I B #£760,000,000

On 13 November 2019, the Company
completed an acquisition of the entire

equity interests of Absolute Surge Limited
(“Absolute Surge”) by issue and allotment
of 760,000,000 new shares at the price of
HK$0.19 each to Whistle Up which
constituted a reverse takeover (the “Reverse
Takeover”). All the above directors were
appointed with effect from 13 November
2019. The directors’ emoluments for the
year ended 31 March 2020 was calculated
since 13 November 2019, the completion
date of the Reverse Takeover.

Note:

(i) Estimated money value of other benefits
represents rent paid.

P& A7 F Whistle Up » LA 58 A% U B Absolute
Surge Limited ([ Absolute Surge ) 2 2 #F8%
W WK RS ([RWEE]) - FulPrBEE
FHEE-NF+—AT=HREZF -
BHE T TF-A=Z+-HIFENES
Mehe=—Z—NAF+—A+=0(RKE
SERK B ER) AT E -

G
() EeENOEEEEEEENES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

15.

16.

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements or
contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company and the
director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) does not
recommend a payment of any dividend by the
Company for the year.

15. EERANRAME &)

(b) EERXE ZHREHNPNERES

ARRABIBEERI L EARNRREE R EEH A
TERREEREEERERNEAREXR
BERZERIFEREMSHDFENERZR
5 RHFHBH -

16. RE

Exg((EEg )Y TERARRRAFEIRN
EARS

2021 2020

—E-—fF —EETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET F7& T

Interim dividends R EIRR B — 19,000

Prior to the Reverse Takeover, an interim dividend
of HK$19,000,000 was declared in October 2019
and paid to the then equity holder of Absolute
Surge in November 2019. For the year ended
31 March 2020, the number of shares ranking for
dividends and the dividends per share were not
presented as such information was not
meaningful.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year are based on the following:

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

sRER(BHE)

FR-ARFEEAEBIEGRERRF,(BER)
T THE R

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT T T
Earnings/(Loss) B (FE)
Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the  ARRQAIHEA AL
Company wm F (E18) 8,213 (42,646)
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TFTHF
‘000 ‘000
T & T B%
Number of shares BB EE
Weighted average number of ordinary HHEEREARRF
shares used in basic earnings/(loss) per (BB FRAzE®
share calculation F DN - 15 2K 1,221,053 936,359

The weighted average number of shares used for
the purpose of calculating basic loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2020 was determined
by reference to Absolute Surge’s weighted
average number of shares outstanding multiplied
by the exchange ratio established in the Reverse
Takeover and the weighted average total actual
shares of the Company in issue after the
completion of the Reverse Takeover.

No diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 has been
presented as there were no potential dilutive
shares outstanding.

RAEHE_Z_ZF=A=+—-HILFESK
EARERPT A Z B0 it F1H B & 2% Absolute
Surge B B B 1T 1E SN0 D0 1 19 Bk DA RS IR M B
HZERE R R ARBRTRRKBERAE
TERBROMEFDBEMET -

R EEE B BITAEIMERD - U EZ 5
BE_Z_—FR_Z_ZF=ZA=+—HILF
EHEREERH(E8) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BP—FT _—F=H=+—HIFFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. MI¥ - - HERRE

Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
improvements  and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HENERE HAREE BORE RE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TET THT TR
Cost %
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA—A 1,118 2,137 2,604 277 6,136
Additions NE 241 75 50 — 366
Disposals HE (1,118) — (248) — (1,366)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZZE=A=+—H 241 2,212 2,406 277 5,136
Additions NE — 107 95 — 202
At 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—-F=ZA=+—H 241 2,319 2,501 277 5,338
Accumulated depreciation R FEREE
and impairment
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFMA—A 532 1,144 1,750 277 3,703
Charge for the year FRRZ 259 371 618 — 1,248
Impairment losses AEEE 439 — — — 439
Disposals & (1,118) — (240) — (1,358)
At 31 March 2020 WZZE-ZF=A=1—H 112 1,515 2,128 277 4,032
Charge for the year FRMX 129 373 215 = 717
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-F=ZA=1+—H 241 1,888 2,343 271 4,749
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2021 R=ZB--F=ZB=+—H — 431 158 — 589
At 31 March 2020 RZZEZTF=A=+—H 129 697 278 — 1,104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as
follows:

e I R MY i
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE T _—F=-H=+—HIFFE

19. EREEE

AEBERBEEENREERFRZEHMT

Office Office
premises equipment Total
WAEYE WMAEE wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
At 1 April 2019 RZE—NF
mAH—H 7,119 1,540 8,659
Additions INE — 44 a4
Lease modification HEEBE — 497 497
Charge for the year FRIE (4,068) (391) (4,459)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE_ZTF=H
=+—H 3,051 1,690 4,741
Lease modification MEEET 4,132 — 4,132
Charge for the year FRAME (4,086) (381) (4,467)
At 31 March 2021 N-ZEBEZ-Z—F
=B=+-—H 3,097 1,309 4,406

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out
in Note 33(b).

The Group leases office premises for its
operations. On 11 December 2020, the Group
entered into a tenancy agreement with the
landlord, Waldorf Holdings Limited (a company
controlled by Mr. Norman Chan) in relation to the
lease of office premises for a term of 12 months
commencing from 1 January 2021 and expiring
on 31 December 2021 at a monthly rent of
HK$348,000. It is accounted for at the effective
date of the lease modification.

The Group leases office equipment for its
operations. The lease terms are 5 years. Rentals
are fixed over the lease terms.

HERS MR ZFBERMIFE33(b) °

REBRELERERDEME RS TF
TZA+T—B AEERBENAEYEEEF
Waldorf Holdings Limited (—ZX B BR % £ H A9 Q
AN EERZE BT —F—-A—-HEEC
E-—F+-_A=+—HILABHI2EA - AlEA
348,000 7T - WE R HEEEFTEMBHAL o

AEEGREESEHERARME - HBRSF - HE
FHANHESIBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre BT ISR M o
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

20, ZBERBROAFEFNEZESHEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T T T

Analysed as: DT A
Current assets mEEE 8,131 —
Non-current assets IERBEE 8,321 16,454
16,452 16,454

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL represent
two unlisted life insurance policies with an
insurance company in relation to a key
management personnel of the Group. The policies
are denominated in US$. The Group paid a single
premium of US$1,025,000 for each policy.

The Group may request a surrender of the
policies at any time and receive cash based on the
cash value of the policies at the date of
withdrawal, which is determined by the insurance
company by reference to the premium paid, plus
accumulated interest earned and minus
accumulated insurance policy expenses charged
and any surrender charge. The amount of
surrender charge decreases over time and is no
longer required from the 10th year of contract
conclusion onwards. The Group is entitled to
interest at a rate of 4% to 5% per annum
applied on the balance of the cash value for two
years from the date of the payment of the
premium. Commencing from the third year, the
interest rates for policies are 1.25% per annum
plus a premium determined by the insurance
company on an annual basis. After the first ten
policy years, no guaranteed minimum interest rate
is applied on the cash value.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank loans
(Note 27) are secured by the key management
insurance policies.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21

REBZEBBREAFENEZEMEE IS
—EREARNMNDEEASEEETEEEAEN
FLETASRE ZEREUFETHE - AEE
S REL A EMRE,025,000E 7T ©

AEEARERERERR  TERERLEAREN
ReEE(BRRARK2ZELNRE - SIMHKER
B 258 RS ER B R ETHR B S R AR AR AR
FEEBET) WRRE - RRTFEESHEBRRER
DA K EFTLAHES T FHBETBUER - K&
EAERENINREEHEMFWIRAE - ZEH
RIRE(EES ﬁ%ﬁ’]i?‘w?4%i5%ﬁré cRE=
F - MEREF1 2% NMRBAFTEFETH
BOMME -RNREMNBETFEZ  BEREREF
RERNAEEE-

R-ZBZ—F=A=+—RH xEENRTEXK
(MzE27) DR = EEE A BREMFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued) 20. BREHBZAFEFAEZERMEE (7)
On 31 May 2021, the Group submitted an RZEBEZ—FRA=1T—H FrEEREZX—HE
application for the withdrawal of one of the key EEBABRENERBF ([ER]) -A &%
management insurance policies (the A 18 /1,046,000% 7T (48 & 7 498,131,0008
“Withdrawal”). Accordingly, such key TN EEEBABREN_Z—F=HA="1—
management insurance policy at fair value of BEDBRREBEE
approximately US$1,046,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,131,000) was classified under
current assets as at 31 March 2021.
As at the application date of the Withdrawal, the RERPAFAH FEEBRAEBRENERREE
surrender value of the key management insurance #7/%1,047,0002€ 7T (18 & 7 498,129,000/8 7T) °
policy amounted to approximately US$1,047,000 HEARGEVBEREBEH  RERIOEMNES R
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,129,000). Up REEAEFRRREXBIAME - RRMAEHIEA
to the date of these consolidated financial AR EEAEBMRITER
statements, the Withdrawal is still in progress, the
surrender value may vary upon the effective date
of the Withdrawal. The proceeds from the
Withdrawal will be used for partial repayment of
the Group's bank loans.
CONTRACT COST ASSETS 21. BHHEEE
Contract cost assets represent fulfillment costs BRANAEERREIIEECEREOBBMZAIES
incurred prior to the contract establishment date BIBITAR °
for specifically anticipated contracts.
CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES 22. EHNEE BB
2021 2020
—BC-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T
Contract assets BHMEE 14,876 14,380
Contract liabilities EHaE 5,118 4,752

The contract assets represent the Group'’s rights to
consideration for work completed but not billed at
the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional other than the passage of
time.

The contract liabilities primarily represent the
advanced consideration received from customers
for which revenue is recognised based on the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
related services.

BHEERAEEND TR TEERRENETR -
HER RS B HIR R ARR o B %N E R EEM (T
FRENH L) RHEESREEF RGOS -

EHBEBEIERUBERPMNEBENRE  MAK
ATHER AR BRAG FE A E HERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o
For the year ended 31 March 2021

BEr—F ——F=HA=1—HIFZF
22. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(continued)

Significant changes in the contract assets and
contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

22. EHNEBEE BB ®)

FRANEERGHBBENEAREZEHIT :

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities

BREE EWAE AMNEE  AWNARE
HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET T T

Revenue recognised FHWANEGHEE

that was included in HEHRERBUA

the contract liability

balance at the

beginning of the

year 4,105 7,285
Transfer from contract B RFVERHELH

assets recognised at BEEREZZESE

the beginning of the WRIE

year to trade

receivables (12,106) (16,024)

During the vyear, the cumulative catch-up
adjustments to revenue (increase in revenue)
affecting the corresponding contract asset or
contract liability amounted to approximately
HK$356,000 (2020: HK$3,531,000).

As at 31 March 2021, the balance of contract
assets amounting to approximately HK$3,358,000
(2020: HK$1,842,000) which are expected to be
settled after one year.

As at 31 March 2021, the balance of contract
liabilities amounting to approximately HK$510,000
(2020: HK$230,000) which are expected to be
recognised as revenue after one year.
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FR FEHEANEESANEAENEZEER
SHE U (B AUk A) #7A356,00008 T (ZE &
£F : 3,531,000 7T) °

RZTE-—F=ZF=+—8 FBAHER —F&4LE
EMANEERK%453,358,008 T (T -F
£F 11,842,000 7T) o

RZTE-—F=ZA=+—H EHPEN—FEHE
REWANEG L BELEERYA510,0008 L (ZF
Z 4 230,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B RS ER R P

For the year ended 31 March 2021

P E - —F=H=1—HIFFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. EZRHMEKRIE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Trade receivables Z 5 M WIE 8,542 16,296
Prepayments, deposits and other ERRE - ZE R
receivables Efh FE YRR 1,691 1,790
10,233 18,086
The Group has recognised the following trade REECHRATE FREWKIE
receivables:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHEIT
Arising from interior design and execution REEZRFH
with customers ENRETRIAT 8,542 16,281
Arising from other sources of revenue R B E b U A SRR = 15
8,542 16,296
The aging analysis of trade receivables based on AREZANE S RUGRIBERR ST T ¢
invoice date is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Within 30 days 30HA 4,729 8,138
31-60 days 31260H 1,960 3,916
61-90 days 61290H 852 2,367
91-180 days 91%180H 1,001 1,755
181-365 days 181%£365H — 120
8,542 16,296
Trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 are either RIZZBZ—F=A=T—HNEZREWFIEHRE
subsequently settled or there has not been a HESEEEETEERNEY -

significant change in credit quality.

EnecgpRaRAA 20021 FFE |81
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o
For the year ended 31 March 2021

B2 —F - —F=H=1—HIFFE
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B REMEBEWKE @)
(continued)
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to HEREKHIE-—KRBEAKRBHRE30E60H A2
60 days from the date of billing. The Group does B AREBRVERZEERFTEETAERR - Z
not hold any collateral over these balances. Trade SREWGKRIBTE R - REE KB R RFERK
receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group FIBRERFBREES - @ &R TR EEET R
seeks to maintain strict control over its & e
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by management.
The Group applies the simplified approach to REBRBEIAERTEREESBEE  Un
provide for expected credit losses which permits AMAEESREFIEFRAEHEREEERE - ®
the use of the lifetime expected credit losses for ZEZ—F=RA=1+—H BHREFUTESEKE
all trade receivables. As at 31 March 2021, the WRsE - MEPWTEABAXRGE - At - EF5E
expected losses rate for customers is minimal, WORRIB N B R S R R -
given there is no history of significant defaults
from customers. Therefore, there is no loss
allowance for trade receivables was recognised.
The carrying amounts of trade receivables are B O RUGRENERERATEYEE -
denominated in the following currencies:
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
HK$ ABTT 8,317 16,210
RMB AR 225 86
8,542 16,296
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BEr—FE-_—F=[=+—HIFFEF

24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24. BITRBETHEER
The carrying amounts of bank and cash balances RITRIBSERNREERNTE®EE
are denominated in the following currencies:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 T T
HK$ BT 58,334 52,577
uss$ eV 3,703 4,497
RMB AR 788 195
JPY H 1,415 869
64,240 58,138
25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. EZRHMENRE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Trade payables B 5 ENRIE = 138
Accruals and other payables FEETER R
H A & IR 4,280 3,904
4,280 4,042
Trade payables as at 31 March 2020 were due RZZEZTF=ZA=+—H BEFENRIEBERHA
within 14 days from the date of billing. EQABEFT14BRNEIE -
The aging analysis of trade payables based on ERBEOHNE RN FBERESDTOT
invoice date was as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Within 30 days 30HA = 138

EnecgrRARAR 20021 55E |83
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(continued)

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

25. B REMENRE @)

B o REMENFANKREERZRA NEBE

2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEERF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T8t TF787T
HK$ BT 4,209 3,923
RMB AR 14 5
NT$ e 57 114
4,280 4,042
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEAE
Minimum lease Present value of minimum
payments lease payments
RIXKEERE REREERERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
e —T-%TF ZB--§ —T_ITF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT TET FAET
Within one year —FR 3,540 3,540 3,487 3,461
In the second to fifth years, E-FRF
inclusive (BREEEMF) 999 1,407 964 1,340
4,539 4,947 4,451 4,801
Less: Future interest expenses o R EF B R (88) (146) N/ATRER NATER
4,451 4,801 4,451 4,801
Less: Portion of amount due for ¥ : R1218 B A Z|H3
settlement within 12 EENSEI
months (shown under (R rEaE
current liabilities) B RFR) (3,487) (3,461)
Amount due for settlement after R 12{E S & BIHLEEH
12 months E-c] 964 1,340
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27. BANK LOANS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B RS ER R P

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

27. RITER

2021 2020
—E=-—fF —E_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Secured BiEA 45,113 49,934
The bank loans are repayable as follows: RITEFNERBRET -
2021 2020
=B —F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET T T
Portion due for repayment within one AR—FRNEHER
year B =B 7> 35,062 34,877
Portion due for repayment after one year B —F&F|HEE
but contains a repayment on demand EREREXEER
clause &R E BB 7 10,051 15,057
Within one year or on demand (shown —F R ENK
under current liabilities) (RREBFEET
5 7R) 45,113 49,934
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o

For z‘he year ended 31 March 2021

Br—F _—F=-H=+—HIFE

27. BANK LOANS (continued) 27. RITER (&)
Bank loans due for repayment after one year R—FEIHEEREBHERERERERORT
which contain a repayment on demand clause are EREBEARBAE -

classified as current liabilities.

Bank loans due for repayment, based on the RIERITRE uﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ’] FrEERBE T E
scheduled repayment dates set out in the banking BEMBRERKEEKEINTE  JNEHEENIR
facilities letters without taking into account the TEZWT
effect of any repayment on demand clause, are as
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T T
Within one year —FR 35,062 34,877
More than one year, but not more than B —FETBAE
two years N F 5,213 5,006
More than two years, but not more than B FEETIEE
five years HF 4,838 10,051
45,113 49,934
As at 31 March 2021, the bank loans are secured RZEZ—F=A=+—H ROTEXBELEE
by the Group’s key management insurance MEZERABSREEEM (M5E20) -
policies (Note 20).
The bank loans denominated in HK$, are BITERAETEHE ]Ihz—f“f‘Jﬁ?r%'\ S
arranged at variable interest rates, thus exposing AEEHRRESAEN AR SHREHHNE
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The BRA =T

effective interest rates as at the respective
reporting dates are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—fF —_ZE_FTF
Variable-rate loans FEER
Effective interest rates per annum BIRF A 1.85%-4.25% 1.85%-4.25%
The directors estimate that the carrying amounts i%ﬁd‘ R-ZTE-_—F=R=+—0 F5H
of the Group’s bank loans are not materially BT E’Jﬁﬁﬁfﬁéﬁiﬁ AFEITESERESR -
different from their fair values as at 31 March
2021.
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28. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the deferred tax liabilities/

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(assets) recognised by the Group:

For the year

BHE_T—

28. JEIEHTA

Accelerated

Deductible

fre MR M L

ended 31 March 2021

S F= A= AR

AT RAAEERAVETEHERE (EE)

tax tax Right-of-use Lease
depreciation depreciation assets liabilities Total
AMEBE
MEBERE TE £AREE HERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET TET TR AT
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NF
MA—H 136 — 1,296 (1,296) 136
(Credit)/Charge to profit or loss (5t A)/H% B8
(Note 12) (Fi5E12) (110) (6) (585) 576 (125)
At 31 March 2020 BA:Y:Z@
e 26 (6) 711 (720) 11
(Credit)/Charge to profit or loss (5t A)/H% & ﬁﬁ
(Note 12) (FF5E12) (26) (29) (50) 53 (52)
At 31 March 2021 RZZZ—%
=A=+—H — (35) 661 (667) (41)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax TREATIBERS P BN KM S B IEET B4 64

balances (after offset) for consolidated statement

of financial position purposes:

(EH1R) D Tﬁ-

2021 2020

—E-—fF —EFF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHE T

Deferred tax liabilities REHIEGE = 17
Deferred tax (assets) RERIE (BE) (41) (6)
(41) 11

As at 31 March 2021,

profits.

the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$2,000,000 (2020:
HK$2,000,000) available for offset against future
No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the unused tax losses

due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The unused tax losses will be carried

forward indefinitely.

R-ZF=

= __

B M R B A TR 1R
BE -ABANEBRSERAEE -

—FZA=ZF+—H AEEHAFAHEIK
SHAR ACE T 89 R B) A LI E5 18 492,000,0008 7T (=
T T4 :2,000,000587T) °
LATE R -

F A AR SR e 2 &
BRI A

BETEEZERERAQ T 202021 F F R

AR

ez

187



=

)

188

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BPr—F_—F=f=+—HIFFEF

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. A
Number of
Note shares Amount
k3 iz 4= KX
HK$'000
BT
Authorised: BE
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.08 each BIRTEE0.08E LA
LR 31,250,000,000 2,500,000
Capital Reorganisation BRARER @ 68,750,000,000 (2,490,000)
At 31 March 2020 and R-ZZB-ZH=H
31 March 2021 St-HAR=B=-F
ZA=t-8
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 BREE0.0001% T
each NE B 100,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 April 2019 R-ZZE-NFEA—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.08 each BHRAEE0.08 LA
3l 3,415,197,762 273,216
Capital Reorganisation R &4 () (3,346,893,807) (273,209)
Issue of Creditors Shares BIEEARD (b) 70,331,984 7
Issue of Capitalisation Shares BB RG () 94,736,842 9
Issue of shares under Share Offer BERHESETRN (d) 227,679,850 23
Issue of Consideration Shares BAORERN (e) 760,000,000 76
At 31 March 2020 and R-ZBEZZEZR
31 March 2021 =t+-BR=B=-%§
ZA=+-H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 SREE0.0001% T
each NEBR 1,221,052,631 122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 24 June
2019, the Company completed a capital
reorganisation on 22 October 2019 (the "Capital
Reorganisation”), which involved the following:

Every 50 issued shares of the Company of
HK$0.08 each was consolidated into one
consolidated share of HK$4 each (“Consolidated
Share”) in the issued share capital of the
Company (the “Share Consolidation”). Upon the
completion of the Share Consolidation, any
fraction in the issued share capital of the
Company arising from the Share Consolidation
was cancelled; and the nominal value of the
issued Consolidated Shares was reduced from
HK$4 to HK$0.0001 each through a cancellation
of the paid-up capital to the extent of
HK$3.9999 each (the “Capital Reduction”).

Upon the Capital Reduction taking effect, all the
authorised but unissued share capital of the
Company was cancelled in their entirety and the
authorised share capital of the Company was
increased to HK$10,000,000 divided into
100,000,000,000 new shares with nominal value
of HK$0.0001 each.

On 13 November 2019, 70,331,984 new shares
(the “Creditors Shares”) of HK$0.0001 each of
the Company were issued and allotted for the
discharge of the claims under the schemes of
arrangement entered into between the Company
and certain creditors at the issue price of
HK$0.19 each and resulted in an increase in
share premium of approximately HK$13,356,000.

On 13 November 2019, 94,736,842 new shares
(the “Capitalisation Shares”) of HK$0.0001 each
of the Company were issued and allotted to
Whistle Up at the issue price of HK$0.19 each for
the settlement of the outstanding loan balance of
approximately HK$18,000,000 and resulted in an
increase in share premium of approximately
HK$17,991,000.

On 13 November 2019, 227,679,850 new shares
of HK$0.0001 each of the Company were issued
and allotted at the issue price of HK$0.19 each
in relation to the Share Offer (as defined in the
Company'’s prospectus dated 4 November 2019).
After deduction of share issue expenses of
approximately HK$5,928,000, the premium on the
issue of shares under the Share Offer amounting
to approximately HK$37,308,000 was credited to
the share premium account.

On 13 November 2019, the Company acquired
the entire equity interests in Absolute Surge at
the consideration of HK$144,400,000, which was
satisfied by way of issue and allotment of
760,000,000 new shares (the “Consideration
Shares”) of HK$0.0001 each of the Company to
Whistle Up at the issue price of HK$0.19 each.

ArA MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BHE—FE - —F=-H=1—HIFFEF
R (&)
B3t
@ BER-Z—hEXA-THHEBBNEIIRE
R ARARZZE—NF+AZ-ZT_HEHBRAR
SHE(TRAEA]) B FRTHEE:

RRARFS0REKEE.08E T B EHITRNE
PFEARR R B BHITEAH —RE BB TSGR
(&R DIRAEH]) - RTiKD 4
% WA HAELEARRR S ETIRA P BEM
RS EEE  REETAMHRONEERBR
SR AN (A FAREE3.9999/8 T AR ) B F MK
E{E4THIE Z0.000178 7T ([ BRABIRE])

PRI BR A% - AR FTAERAEBRETR
AEZE2HHE MARRNEERAENNE
10,000,000 7T (% A100,000,000,000 8% & A% T
{B0.0001 BT F L) ©

AZZT—NFE+—A+=8 70,331,984 B
HE0.0001 B LR A E M ([EEARS])
BEIREITETR0.198 T8 BT - UEEBKR A
AREETERAFIUNEEEERZHEE NHER
R WEHRMD =B ML 13,356,000 7T °

—hWFE+—B+=H " 94,736,842 &%

ﬁ@o 0001,%75 $ATEH;<@(FEZM:H§@J)

TR TE S AR0.1978 T 3 77 K A2 2 T Whistle

Up B 5K 138 E%k,% #2#718,000,0003% 7T
éﬁzﬂxﬁm{ﬁi‘bu 4717,991,0003 7T °

MN-ZZ—NFE+—F+=8 227,679,850 F %
HE1E0.0001 5 AR D FAF RN HRHBE (BE
BARBRARHA-Z-AE+ - ANBEBNERE
12) EIRHITEE0.198 T 3T M3 - RIK
B 17 377 B 2 495,928,00058 7018 - IRIBMRID 3 E
?é;fﬁﬁﬁEl'\]Z%THE%"737,308,0005’5ﬁ%‘f/\%@?ﬁ?ﬂg

RZE—hAhE+—A+=ZH ' AQAFIZRARE
144,400,000/ 7T U B Absolute  Surge®y 2 2 8
- EELMK%"TTF:M 1978 T % ?&Eﬂ?’f
760,000,0000% & J% E{E0.0001 /8 JLHY AR B FT AR
1’;3([1%%;&1%) FWhistle Up#&1i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre BT ISR M o
For the year ended 31 March 2021

BP—FT _—F=H=+—HIFFE
29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29. BA& (&)
Capital management EXER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are REEEBEEANBENEERNESESERSE
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a EENEN  UWARRRHELBR R AEMBFNHE
going concern in order to provide returns for IRMEER - WHRSREERERE - SRERKAR -
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital REFIFABERARE  AEERARKN T
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of REHRESEE  BITHRNDIEEEE °
dividends to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of REBENERGEL RKETEER - ZL R THIZ
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt BERFERNBERTE -ERFENREBER
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as ERHEAERReNBESSEYE - EXE
total borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and BRIRAR & W FSAR R R PR IR | INE TS 3 58 (103E
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as )& -
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt, where
applicable.
The calculation of the Group’s gearing ratios are REBNERBELEERUTEIEE
based on the following data:
2021 2020
—E-—F ZTETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Borrowings BE 45,113 49,934
Lease liabilities MEaE 4,451 4,801
Less: cash and cash equivalents B BRekReE
B (64,240) (58,138)
Net cash BEeFHR (14,676) (3,403)
Equity P A 54,637 46,424
Equity and net cash MR 2 3R & 5 39,961 43,021
Gearing ratio BERBEHEE N/ATiE F N/AT i A
As at 31 March 2021, the Group is in a net cash RZBEZ—F=A=+—H FTEEERFHEE

position.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is in order to maintain its listing on GEM
of the Stock Exchange, it has to have a public
float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group
receives a report from the share registrars regularly
on substantial share interests showing the
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing
compliance with the 25% limit throughout the
year.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
movements therein are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands, the application of the
share premium account is governed by
the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Share premium of the
Company is distributable to
shareholders subject to the provisions
of the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association and provided
that immediately following the
distribution, the Company is able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

(ii) Other reserves

Other reserves comprise:

— the adjustment of Absolute
Surge’s legal capital to reflect
the Company’'s legal capital
(arising from the Reverse
Takeover); and

— the difference between the
nominal value of share capital of
the subsidiaries of Absolute
Surge acquired over the nominal
value of the share capital of
Absolute Surge issued in
exchange therefor.

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
E_E - —F A= —HAIFFE

(a) *x%H

AEENREBEREZEHNGEABRaEMLE
ERERRGEEREEH RN -

(b) REBZMERRAR

() BH=EE

REASBHERTE  BRODEERD
ERTIZERERERRERE - &
RA R EE A YR TR - HE
RE ST AR ARSI E R R N AT R
&3 BRTIR R BEBED IKIR - N A
BEAEAEEEBRETEEDMER -

(i) EHiks
Hin B BLE
—  FAEAbsolute SurgeHI I AN A K

MRARRRDEERA(EEBR
WEE) : &

—  FrikEEAbsolute Surgeff/E A &)
B A% 7N T (B B gk A SR MR FT B AT
Absolute Surge R ANHAIE 2 £ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN
For the year ended 31 March 2021

P E_—F=H=1—HIFFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31. XA Rz BRARREEEE
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of () AT ZBMBARRE
the Company

Note 2021 2020
B 5 —E-—fF ZE-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHNBARZ
BE 87,600 87,600
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TEfT A 193 117
Amount due from a FEU —FEME A A
subsidiary FIE 28,001 28,000
Bank balances IRITH R 260 2,232
28,454 30,349
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other JEEt B R R E M ER
payables FIE 656 751
Amount due to a B —REE A A
subsidiary FIE 2,290 1,435
2,946 2,186
Net current assets REBEEFE 25,508 28,163
NET ASSETS EERE 113,108 115,763
Capital and reserves EXRRE
Share capital [N 122 122
Reserves Gl 31(b) 112,986 115,641
TOTAL EQUITY EXEE 113,108 115,763
Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 KEEER_T-_—F A+ -HH#ER
June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: HMERKRES:
Chan Norman Enrique Lee Alex Kam-fai
R 44 32 R
Director Director
E E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
E_E - —F A= —HAIFFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31. AARZHMEMRRERRFEEES &)
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XABZREERE
Convertible
Share bonds equity Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
TEkES
B RE EREH i BB @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TET THET BT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFEA—A 3,661,406 141,439 (4,594,044) (791,199)
Total comprehensive income for ~ FRNZEWRZFESE
the year — — 477,452 477,452
Capital Reorganisation and Share ~ R AZA Rt #ERHDEE
Premium Cancellation (Note) (MisE) (3,661,406) — 3,934,615 273,209
Issue of Creditors Shares BITREARD 13,356 (141,439) 141,439 13,356
Issue of Capitalisation Shares BIIERMERG 17,991 — — 17,991
Issue of shares under Share BERNEESETRN
Offer 37,308 — 37,308
Acquisition of a subsidiary B 87,524 — 87,524

Changes in equity for the year FRERE

(3,505,227) (141,439) 4,553,506 906,840

At 31 March 2020 and R-E-FF
1 April 2020 “A=t—8k
ZZ-EFWA—A 156,179 — (40,538) 115,641
Total comprehensive income and ~ F R 2 E & A5 &
changes in equity for the year g — - (2,655) (2,655)
At 31 March 2021 R-B--F
=B=+-H 156,179 — (43,193) 112,986
Note: 3T -

Upon the Capital Reorganisation taking effect, the
total credit of approximately HK$273,209,000
arising therefrom was set off part of the
accumulated losses of the Company.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on
24 June 2019, the entire amount standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the
Company was cancelled to set off against part of
the accumulated losses of the Company (the
“Share Premium Cancellation”).

REAEHENE ANEEZERBERY
273,209,000 ;o B F{EHR AN A R 2 300 R AT s

1B

BER =T —NFANAZTHBBBOERIAZ
& RRABROEERAZEERSE T A
NHEEART 2 8 RetEia ([ EHRmEE]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B _—_—F=H=1—HIFZ

32. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31

2021 are as follows:

March

32. HEAF

— ==

\
R
N

FZA=T—HZHMBRRFBNOT :

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and paid Percentage of
Name of subsidiary operation up capital ownership interest Principal activities
ML BETR
iy NI & E i B B R A EEREEZREOWL FEXEK
Direct Indirect
Hi i 45
ABSOLUTE SURGE LIMITED British Virgin Islands/ us$7 100% —  Investment holding
Hong Kong
ERRUHE/EE E 100% —  REER
BTR (ASIA) LIMITED Hong Kong HK$8,000 — 100%  Inactive
BE 8,0007% 70 — 100% EXBEY
BTR (HK) LIMITED Hong Kong HK$1,000 — 100%  Provision of interior
design and
execution services
BE 1,000 T — 100% REZARTR
WITRH
BTR (INTL) LIMITED Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100%  Provision of interior
design and
execution services
BE 10,000 7T — 100% REZARTR
WITRH
BTR WORKSHOP LIMITED Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100%  Provision of interior
design and
execution services
BE 200,000/ 7T — 100% REZARTR
WITRH

194
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre MR M L

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BER—F-—F=F=+—HIFFE
33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. MEREREBRMT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities from () METHELABHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the TRFNAEEREZDEANAGTE
Group’s liabilities arising from financing BREReMIFREEY - rﬂﬁﬁ@]?iﬁ’]%
activities, including both cash and non-cash BRAERSRECKRARKREERETSHE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing REBENGERERERADERRELTH
activities are those for which cash flows EENBESRE -
were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group's consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Amount
Amounts  due to the
due to holding Lease
directors company liabilities  Bank loans
ENESE REMER
MIE AFNRE HEEE RITEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AT T T
1 April 2019 -NEMA—-A 43 50 8,640 33,076
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KB A — 1,534 — —
New leases nHE — — 44 —
Lease modification BEEE] — — 490 —
Cash flows Bene 43) (1,584) (4,571) 15,016
Interest expenses FEMZ — — 198 1,842
At 31 March 2020 and _;_# A=+-H
1 April 2020 R-E-ZEMA—H — — 4,801 49,934
Lease modification HEBE = = 4,132 =
Cash flows ReneE — — (4,584) (6,493)
Interest expenses FBHZ = = 102 1,672
At 31 March 2021 e P = = 4,451 45,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B B RS AR MY et

For z‘he year ended 31 March 2021

B=E

33.

34,

y =

= Fl=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

33.

REBRERBRME @)

(continued)
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HEMNBEEARHAEE
Amounts included in the consolidated RHEEFARERERERNEERIETY
statement of cash flows for leases comprise I8
the following:
2021 2020
—E-——& —E-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F7B7T
Within operating cash flows KERSMEN 102 651
Within financing cash flows BMERSREN 4,482 4,373
Lease rental paid ENEERS 4,584 5,024
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. ERR#ESE

The Company adopted a share option scheme on
30 July 2012 (the "Share Option Scheme”) for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to the eligible participants who contributed to the
growth of the Group. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors may grant options to
eligible full-time or part-time employees, including
any executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors, and consultants or
advisers of the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries. The Share Option Scheme as valid
and effective for a period of ten years from the
adoption date.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme, and any other option schemes is not
permitted to exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The
number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2020/21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Options granted must be taken up within thirty
days of the date of grant, upon payment of
HK$1 per grant.

Options may be exercised at any time during a
period to be notified by the Board upon the grant
of options provided that the option period shall
not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of
the options. No minimum period for which an
option must be held is required. The exercise
price, which is determined by the Board is the
highest of: (i) the closing price per share on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price per
share for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

Options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share options were granted by the Company
or exercised during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020. There are no share options
outstanding as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE T _—F=-H=+—HIFFE

RS )
ERFARARNES  (TRARKEZRRKER

HENBEANBRERASAECBYLIIFNTES
HEAE © pESN  WEMI2E R BEAEE T ARQF

EE%%Q%I#%ﬁ%%QE@&%W%%A
M E AR R BETRN0.1%EABEGEEAR
hﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%%%mfﬁijE%EmEﬂ
Bk HENRKRERERSG LEFBIRIE -

E&ﬁ%h%%%#&ﬁﬂ%iﬁE+EW%M'
WA GBI 1BTT

BRETAELBRENOAESSBANHMEA
T T AT - ERBRERRE T SEES R
B R B H R A +F - BIER EB R LA
BeEEME THEEREFEET  ER1OEK
R BB Z BT E ()R ERRH A 8
TEE R B BRRD ZFHEHE - K E
BE=F9&=%E -

BEREBITEETHEABBRK
BEZHER -

BHRBERE

REBEZZ-_—FE_ZTTF=HA=+—HL
FE  ARQRUWERD ASETEEMBRE-
RZBEZ—FR-ZBF-EF=A=F+—HIEMH
RITEEIEIRHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire PR RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE—T_—F=-A=1—HIFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. AR S
The directors of the Company are of the view RAREERR TR EUTETHNRFER
that during the year, transactions with the REBHRS

following parties are considered as related party
transactions:

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

SR R 75 £ 1 1Y B 12

Waldorf Holdings Limited Controlled by Mr. Norman Chan

P [5R 5t A= 4%
H. S. Chan Company Limited Controlled by a close family member of Mr.
Norman Chan

BRIZRB R A A F [BR 5t A B9 3T 3 12
In addition to those related party transactions and BRiZEMBMEREMMATAEENERE IR
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BN REERFANBE TS0

financial statements, the Group’s related party
transactions during the year are as follows:

(a) Transactions and balance with (a) HEBEBAINXKZ K&
related parties

Transactions with related parties 2021 2020
BEREABINRS —E_—f —EB_FHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T T
Office rental paid to Waldorf M Waldorf Holdings
Holdings Limited Limited 32 < 09 3F &
=HEMAX 4,176 4,176
Cleaning expense to H.S. Chan MERERERARX
Company Limited H)E RS 15 16
Balance with a related party 2021 2020
SHER B 5 B R B —E-—fF TE-EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T T
Rental deposit to Waldorf Holdings  MWaldorf Holdings
Limited Limited X W&
R 696 696
All the above transactions and balance were LAl BER 5 RSB R AT KRB E
conducted on terms and conditions BRI G 1T o

mutually agreed with the related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Key management personnel

compensation

Directors are the key management
personnel of the Group whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 15.

The emoluments of directors and other key
management personnel are as follows:

R e B RS ER R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—F=H=1—HIFE

35. BB ARS (&)

(b) EEEEASHMN

EEDNAKENEREEAR  RENHE
BERMIEES -

EENHEMETBEEABNMSOT

2021 2020
=F=—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT T T
Salaries and allowances Fé KRR 3,298 3,314

Other benefits (represent rent paid)  H @7 (352
) 348 232

Retirement benefit scheme RIRAEFIFTE

contributions K 54 54
3,700 3,600

The emoluments of key management
personnel are determined by the directors
of the Company having regard to the
respective responsibilities of the individuals,
the performance of the Group and market
trends.

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

ZEBRABNMES I HARAESLFT R
ZEATZBENELRE AEENKRETS

BERET -

36. MEHREE

PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 20, the Group has no
other significant events after the reporting period
and up to the date of these financial statements.

B B AT 20 PT I BB & 4D -
APBHR AL \BEERLMENER -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year end 31 March 2021
BP—FT _—F=H=+—HIFFE

The following is a summary of the published results and M NARNEBERGIAEGTRFEEHE FIEEEUARE
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five ENBEME  NRESEAFHREBRERMHH ST
financial years, as extracted from this annual report and Bl R ©

the accountants’ report as contained in the Prospectus.

RESULTS: B
For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--& —-—Z-F% “E2-NEFE —E-\F ZE—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FET FHET FET
Revenue WA 53,238 73,088 69,810 61,840 68,092
Profit/(Loss) before tax BBANES (EE) 9,441 (39,450) 20,148 19,589 25,403
Income tax TSR (1,228) (3,196) (2,982) (3,114) (4,242)

Profit/(Loss) and total EREF/(FE)

comprehensive income for REENEEE
the year 8,213 (42,646) 17,166 16,475 21,161

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: EEREGE:
As at 31 March
R=A=+-H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—2--f %% —F-NE ZE-N\F ZEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FHET FET FET
Non-current assets EREBEE 13,357 22,305 11,354 11,288 4,279
Current assets MEEE 100,365 91,684 57,403 68,081 129,078
Total assets BEAE 113,722 113,989 68,757 79,369 133,357
Non-current liabilities EREaE (964) (1,357) (136) (290) (423)
Current Liabilities MEAE (58,121) (66,208) (48,151) (57,775) (57,605)
Total Liabilities BEEE (59,085) (67,565) (48,287) (58,065) (58,028)
Total equity BEnias 54,637 46,424 20,470 21,304 75,329
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